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Dear SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the “Directors”) of
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
(the “reporting period”).

The Group has recorded revenue of approximately RMB985,000,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: RMB783,803,000),
representing an increase of 25.7% as compared to 2014. Profit
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB302,198,000
(2014: RMB205,145,000), representing an increase of 47.3% over 2014.
The increase in turnover was mainly attributable to the increase in sales
of intermediates, bulk medicines and major products of system specific
medicines, while the increase in profit was mainly attributable to the
satisfactory sustained sales performance and gross profit margin of the
Group’s system specific medicines.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.12 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2015, amounting to the total sum
of approximately HK$96,289,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB80,648,000), to the shareholders whose names appeared in the
register of members as of Friday, 27 May 2016 subject to the approval of
the shareholders at the forthcoming 2016 Annual General Meeting (the
“2016 AGM”). Taking into consideration the interim dividend of HK$0.03
per share, the total annual dividend distributed for the year is HK$0.15
per share. The dividend payout ratio is approximately 33.3%.

In 2015, the global situation of economy was complicated and the
recovery of the world economy was slow. Affected by economic reforms
and transformation, the operating environment in the PRC market highly
fluctuated, while all industries were faced with different pressures. As for
China’s pharmaceutical industry, although it still maintained a growth
trend, its momentum has dwindled, resulting in a slower overall growth
rate. Due to various medical and pharmaceutical policies and measures
issued by the Government, chemical pharmaceutical firms were in the
face of a more challenging operating environment. However, in
consideration of the particularity of medical service, governmental
resources and social capital are expected to continuously invest in the
industry, therefore China’s medical and healthcare industry is still enjoying
a good prospect.
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As to prospect of China’s medical and pharmaceutical industry, the
Group substantially kept its previous views that benefitting from improving
government medical resources and medical insurance system, aging
population, increasing health awareness and affordability of the general
public, there is still further room for the development of the medical and
pharmaceutical market, while the pharmaceutical sector will still maintain
long-lasting and steady growth.

Currently, there is still a situation of fierce competition and high dispersion
in the pharmaceutical sector of China. As to chemical pharmaceutical
segment of the industry, the excessive production capacity and quality
homogenization across brands with the general policy of quality
improvement required by the Government, as well as continuous
implementation of various policies and measures in relation to all aspects
such as research and development, quality management, supply model,
tendering system and social environment protection of pharmaceutical
medicines, led to a challenged operating environment, and also resulted
in the increase in the operating costs of the business. Accordingly, the
Group considers the situation and continues to concentrate its resources
to perform the following tasks in 2016 in a more efficient manner:

(1) As to system specific medicines business, the Group will closely
monitor and follow up all designed and implemented marketing
strategies and measures so as to increase penetration rate to all-
tier markets in hope of a more extensive and consolidated market
coverage and a more sound development momentum of the
Group’s system specific medicine sales.

(2)  As to cephalosporin antibiotics business, led by the Government’s
policy of restriction use of antibiotics, there was a narrower market
space and the operating environment was faced with challenges.
The Group will continue to make all efforts to improve product
quality and stability, and also curb production cost to enhance the
market competitiveness of the Group’s cephalosporin antibiotics
products along the whole industry chain. Meanwhile, the Group
puts more efforts to promote the research and development and
marketing of cephalosporin antibiotics for oral use so as to improve
the performance of such scope of business.
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(8)  The Group recognizes that amid a macroscopic tendency featuring
diminishing profitability in the chemical pharmaceutical industry, the
Group needs to make all-out efforts to ensure keeping promotion
drivers of all existing key types of medicine, and will also keep a
close eye on disease tendencies among the public. The Group will
adjust the structure and direction of research and development of
products in respond to guidance requirements of research and
development of products on pharmaceutical enterprises imposed
by the Government, and on the basis of our financial resources and
business development, meanwhile strengthen our research and
development capability by all means and channels, in an effort to
enrich the size of our new products of system specific medicines
and cephalosporin antibiotics medicines in all treatment sectors.

The Group’s management team will continue to practice its time-
honoured pragmatic style of operation, aim at the long-term shareholder
interest, make prudent decisions and focus on our core business.
Meanwhile, the team will continue to recruit outstanding talents, optimize
management system and stabilise the management team in a bid to
create reasonable returns for the shareholders of the Company.

Meanwhile, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
appreciation for the support and cooperation from the Company’s
shareholders and directors and the Group’s business partners,
management personnel and all staff for my work in the previous year.

By Order of the Board

Li Kei Ling
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2016
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During the period, under the pressure of intense market competition, the
Group’s system specific medicines still recorded sales growth while
maintaining good business growth momentum compared to 2014. In
particular, as to anti-hypertensive drug in “An” (%) series of medicines,
the Group’s marketing team concentrated various resources, adjusted
marketing measures to a reasonable extent, optimized supply and sales
system, and continued to consolidate brand awareness of “An” series,
leading to a sustained sales growth of that series of medicines.

Meanwhile, sales of the Group’s “Leiyide” (& 513 ) (Entecavir Dispersible
Tablets) for treating hepatitis B virus was in line with respective schedule
and also recorded satisfactory growth with strong business growth.
Following securing the supply contract in Hong Kong market in 2014,
GlaxoSmithKline Limited, a partner of the Group and through its
distribution business partner, has again successfully secured a new
contract to supply the Group’s Entecavir Tablets in Hong Kong market.
This fully reflected that the quality of the Group’s finished drugs had
prerequisites of expansion into the advanced market in the world, which
will have favourable impact on exploring the international market.

In terms of the Group’s business of cephalosporin antibiotics, during the
period, the Group still recorded losses from the business of that series of
products. In 2015, sales volume of both intermediates and bulk
medicines increased compared to 2014. However, upon completion of
new GMP adaptive renovation works, the Group’s manufacturing team
required a longer period to integrate all parts, resulting in higher overall
production costs of bulk medicines. As for cephalosporin powder for
injection, since the “Administrative Measures for the Clinical Application
of Antibacterial Drugs” (71 Bl 5% ¥ B2 K F& A3 & 32 #)1 J%) issued by China
before several years, the antibacterial drugs market in China experienced
a downward trend, while the overall consumption in the end-user market
was further constrained due to stricter administrative measures for the
clinical application of antibacterial drugs issued by the Government in
2015. As a result, during the period, the Group’s sales volume of powder
for injection decreased as compared to the corresponding period of last
year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s production and
sales volume of bulk medicines increased by 102.4% and 63.1%
respectively, compared to 2014; the production volume of cephalosporin
powder for injection increased by 43.6% while the sales volume
decreased by 22.2% over last year, where the decrease was attributable
to the temporary loss of market in some regions. The production and
sales volume of solid-dosage-forms increased by 26.8% and 8.1%
respectively over last year. In particular, the production and sales volume
of “An” (%) series increased by 34.1% and 8.8% respectively over last
year, while the production and sales volume of “Leiyide” (& $15)
(Entecavir Dispersible Tablets) increased by 45.0% and 60.0%
respectively over last year. Both series continued to grow this year. As for
the international business, the Group kept expanding its overseas market,
the share of overseas sales that accounted for 12.6% of total sales
volume of the Group and the sales amount increased by 36.0% over last
year.

(1) In 2015, a total of 115 declarations for registration were filed with
the Food and Drug Administration of Jiangsu Province (including 9
for supplemental applications and 106 for re-registration), and 2
were filed with the China Food and Drug Administration for new
products within Class 3.1 (developed jointly with others); a total of
115 approval documents were obtained (including 9 supplemental
approval documents or documents for record, 103 re-registration
approval documents and 3 clinical approval documents).

(2)  Authorisation for one invention patent was obtained:
On 5 August 2015, “A cefixime tablet and its preparation process”

was granted authorization with the authorization number of
Z1201310026897.0.
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Su Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. passed the renewal audit for the
honor “Enterprises Valuing Contracts and Honoring
Credit in Suzhou”.

Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. was awarded with the Certificate for
“Class 2 Enterprises in Work Safety Standardization” from
Jiangsu Administration of Work Safety.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as a “Foreign-invested Research and
Development Center” jointly by the Department of
Commerce of Jiangsu Province, the Department of
Finance of Jiangsu Province, Nanjing Customs and
Jiangsu State Administration of Taxation (JSAT).

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
credited as a provincial “Enterprise valuing contracts
and honoring credit” for year 2013-2014 by the
Industry and Commerce Administration of Jiangsu
Province.

Cefixime tablet (7] 71#E) was approved as a “High-tech
Product of Jiangsu Province” by the Science and
Technology Department of Jiangsu Province.

Su Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. passed the renewal audit on
ISO9001:2008, ISO14001:2004 and
OHSAS18001:2007.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. passed
the site audit and obtained the Certificate for
Measurement Assurance issued by the Metrology
Association of Jiangsu Province.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.’s
workshops for bulk medicines and solid dosage forms
passed validation inspections and obtained the new
GMP certificate.
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SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a turnover
of approximately RMB985,000,000, which was increased by
RMB201,197,000, represented an increase of 25.7% compared with last
year. In the turnover, sales of system specific medicines increased by
RMB130,139,000, representing an increase of 24.7% compared with last
year. Sales of the cephalosporin antibiotics product line increased by
RMB71,874,000, representing an increase of 29.6% compared with last
year.

Sales amount of finished drugs, comprising system specific medicines,
powder for injection and tablets of cephalosporin and other oral solid-
dosage-form of antibiotics, reached approximately RMB745,388,000.
Taking into account of the total turnover, sales amount of finished drugs
was approximately 75.7% which was decreased by 5.2 percentage
points compared with last year. This was mainly due to the increase of
the sales amount of intermediates and bulk medicines after completion of
new GMP renovation. Sales amount of the “An” (%) series for treating
hypertension accounted for 45.7% of sales of finished drugs. Sales
amount of “Leiyide” (5 513 for treating hepatitis B virus accounted for
35.8% of sales of finished drugs. Sales amount of “Xikewei” (74 7] ) and
“Xikexin” (78 A #7) for treating allergies accounted for 5.1% of sales of
finished drugs.

Among the cephalosporin antibiotics product line, sales amount of
intermediates and bulk medicines increased by 59.7% compared with
last year. As for finished drugs, sales amount of cephalosporin powder
for injection declined by 23.7% compared with last year while sales
amount of cephalosporin for oral products was basically flat compared
with last year. Under the impact of national restriction of usage of
antibiotics, the overall end-user market of antibiotics was on a downward
trend and therefore, sales of the powder for injection decreased
compared with last year. However, sales of cephalosporin for oral
products remained at similar level which was attributable to their more
clinical convenience.

Gross profit was approximately RMB569,388,000 which was increased
by RMB109,469,000 compared with last year, representing an increase
of 23.8%. Gross profit margin decreased by 0.9 percentage points to
57.8% from 58.7% as in last year. In comparison with last year, although
the sales amount of relatively high gross profit margin system specific
medicines, such as “Leiyide” increased by 50.6% and sales amount of
“An” (%) series increased by 12.5%, due to the sales amount of
intermediates and bulk medicines enlarged after completion of the new
GMP renovation, the turnover of finished drugs representing to total
turnover decreased by 5.2 percentage points. The total gross profit
margin level therefore was slightly lower than last year.
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PRODUCT TURNOVER (RMB’000) SALES BREAKDOWN (%)
Em EXH(AR%ETR) HELH (%)

Percentage
points
2015 2014 Changes 2015 2014 Changes
B
“E-1F C—T-WF #r —B-1Ff _—T-OF 25
Intermediates and Bulk Medicines e K Rk a 239,612 150,032 89,580 24.3 19.1 52
Finished Drugs B % 745,388 633,771 111,617 75.7 80.9 -5.2
Overall et 985,000 783,803 201,197 100.0 100.0 0.0

During the year, the total expenses incurred were approximately
RMB223,680,000, equivalent to 22.7% of turnover (2014: 28.0%). The
total expenses increased by approximately RMB3,926,000 compared
with last year which was RMB219,754,000. Even though the turnover
increased by 25.7%, the selling and distribution expenses decreased due
to enhancement of control in selling expenses. The administrative
expenses increased by RMB13,931,000 compared with last year, it was
mainly due to the increase in total employee expenses for wage increase
and for recruitment and providing incentives to employees by increasing
bonus and granting share options.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the segment profit of finished
drugs segment was approximately RMB498,280,000, which was
increased by approximately RMB117,030,000 when compared with last
year which was RMB381,250,000. The segment results of intermediates
and bulk medicines segment recorded losses of approximately
RMB37,862,000. The increase of loss by RMB7,093,000 compared with
the loss of RMB30,769,000 in last year was due to re-integration of
production technology and facilities after completion of renovation works
of the cephalosporin bulk medicines workshop which led the rise of
production cost. In addition, the market of cephalosporin antibiotics was
less active and prices of bulk medicines were under pressure during the
year, the Group had made high provision for inventory impairment and
therefore, the loss of bulk medicine business had not been improved.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, profit attributable to owners of
the parent amounted to approximately RMB302,198,000, achieved an
increase of RMB97,053,000 or 47.3% growth compared with last year.
Such substantial increase was mainly because the sales of system
specific medicines still remained fast growth.
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As at 31 December 2015, net assets attributable to owners of the parent
were approximately RMB1,473,876,000. The return on net assets, which
is defined as the profit attributable to owners of the parent divided by net
assets attributable to owners of the parent, was 20.5% (2014: 16.4%).
The current ratio and quick ratio was 3.98 and 3.46 respectively.
Turnover days for trade receivables were approximately 37 days. The
turnover days for trade receivables including bills receivables were 88
days. Turnover days for inventory were approximately 102 days.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had cash and bank balance
approximately RMB685,790,000 (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB679,047,000), of which, cash and cash equivalents was
approximately RMB563,280,000 (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB443,366,000), RMB122,500,000 was term deposit with maturity
over three months (as at 31 December 2014: Nil) and RMB10,000 (as at
31 December 2014: RMB50,000) was bank deposit pledged for letters of
credit. During the year, the net cash flows from operating activities was
approximately RMB298,322,000 (2014: RMB377,798,000). Net cash
flows used in investing activities was approximately RMB146,200,000
(2014: RMB46,668,000). Net cash flows used in financing activities was
approximately RMB37,984,000 (2014: RMB96,764,000).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had aggregate bank facilities of
approximately RMB763,035,000 (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB844,790,000), of which, bank facilities of HK$18,000,000 were
secured by corporate guarantee of the Company. For the short term
loan, the Group had only a mortgage loan of HK$10,563,000 for its Hong
Kong office. The loan interest rate is HIBOR plus 1.5%. As at 31
December 2015, the debt ratio (defined as sum of interest-bearing bank
loans over total assets) of the Group was 0.5% (as at 31 December
2014: 11.1%).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had the inventory balance of
RMB147,747,000 (as at 31 December 2014: RMB87,581,000).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s contracted but not provided for
plant and machinery capital commitments amounted to approximately
RMB7,776,000 (as at 31 December 2014: RMB5,901,000), which mainly
derived from the sewage treatment works of Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd. The Group has
sufficient financial and internal resources to bear the capital expenditure.

Save as aforesaid disclosure, the Group had no significant external
investments or material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015, part of the Group’s bank fixed
deposits was denominated in foreign currency and as the depreciation of
Renminbi in the second half of 2015, the Group recorded approximately
RMB2,951,000 exchange gain. However, the Group’s substantial
business activities, assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, the
risk derived from the foreign exchange to the Group is not high. The
treasury policy of the Group is to manage any risk of foreign exchange or
interest rate (if any) only if it will potentially impose a significant impact on
the Group. The Group continues to observe the foreign exchange and
interest rate market, and may hedge against foreign currency risk with
foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate risk with interest
rate swap contracts if necessary.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group employed approximately 998
employees and the total remuneration was approximately
RMB118,611,000 (2014: RMB93,465,000). The Group regards human
resources as the most valuable assets and truly understands the
importance of attracting and retaining high-performance employees. The
remuneration policy is generally based on the references of market salary
index and individual qualifications. The Group provides its employees with
other fringe benefits, including defined contribution retirement schemes,
share option scheme and medical coverage. The Group also offers some
of its employees stationed in the PRC with dormitory accommodation.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s assets with net book value of
approximately RMB29,821,000 were pledged to banks to secure credit
facilities granted to its subsidiaries (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB214,715,000).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Save for those disclosed above in connection with capital commitments

under the section “Liquidity and Financial Resources”, the Group does
not have any plan for material investments or acquisition of capital assets.

An analysis of the Group’s segment information for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out in note 3 to the financial statement.
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) believes that corporate governance is
essential to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”). Good corporate governance can safeguard
the interests of all shareholders and enhance corporate value. Therefore,
the Board has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard
of corporate governance is maintained.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Ltd. (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015, except for the following deviation:

1. Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code — The roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual

The positions of Chairman of the Board and CEO of the Company
have been carried on by the same person since 1 March 2015. The
Board considers that this structure does not undermine the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management.
The Board members have considerable experience and qualities
which they bring to the Company and the Board believes that it is
able to ensure that the balance of power between the Board and
the management is not impaired. The Board believes that having
the same person performing the roles of both Chairman and CEO
does provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership and
that, operating in this manner allows for more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning of the Group.

2. Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code — Attendance of Non-
executive Directors at general meeting

All Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) attended the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 22 May 2015 (the “2015 AGM”) other than one
Independent Non-executive Director who was not in position to
attend the 2015 AGM due to an overseas commitment. A new
Non-executive Director was appointed after 2015 AGM.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in
securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirms that all the Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code, throughout the
accounting period covered by the 2015 annual report.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management has been delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

No corporate governance committee has been established and so the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct to employees and directors such as
inside information disclosure regulations and assuring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, etc.

The Board held 22 board meetings including 6 regular meetings and 16
ad-hoc meetings during the year ended 31 December 2015. The regular
board meetings were to consider, among other things, reviewing and
approving the interim and annual results of the Group, overall group
strategy, annual budgets, approval of major capital transactions and
other significant operational and financial matters. The ad-hoc meetings
were convened when circumstance required such as review and approve
capital expenses for production facilities, granting share options to
employees, appointment of director and management, share repurchase
and positive profit alert announcement approval.
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Details of the attendance of Directors at board meetings, annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and other three board committees’
meetings (the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) during the year 2015 are set out in the
following table:

RoB—f% SEFREFRGH  ALARERE
AR(BFRFAR) RN =AEEEERGH(E
BEEE  RAZERREFMEER) ML BRBIIRRN
T

No. of meetings attended/held

SRNERE BITRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration

Board AGM Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEEHR EZe RRBEXE ERZEY REZES FHEEE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Ms. Li Kei Ling (Chairman) TEBRZLT(FE) 22/22 11 4/4 4/4
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RERIE oA 22/22 11
Mr. Li Tung Ming FREAKE 20/22 1/
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Mr. Leung Hong Man PERGA 8/22 11
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi* EDE, Ronald Hao Xi % & * 2/6
Independent Non-executive i 3 iTE%E

Directors

Mr. Pan Xue Tian EEMELE 4/22 on 2/3 3/4 3/4
Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky BugmAL L 9/22 11 3/3 4/4 4/4
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony LBRBTE 7/22 11 3/3 4/4 4/4

*

Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi was appointed as Non-executive Director on 15 June 2015, 6
board meetings were held by the Company since his appointment.

At least 14 days notice of regular board meeting is given to all Directors.
The agenda and board papers are sent to the Directors at least 3 days
before the meetings of the Board and board committees so that the
Directors have the time to review the documents. Directors can include
matters for discussion in the agenda if the need arises. Minutes of
meetings of the Board and board committees are recorded in sufficient
details that matters considered and decisions reached. The draft and final
versions of the minutes will be sent to Directors within a reasonable time
after the meetings. Minutes of meetings of the Board and board
committees are kept by the company secretary of the Company and
open for inspection on reasonable notice by any Director.

All Directors are entitled to have unrestricted access to the advice and
service of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Upon
reasonable request and appropriate circumstances, Directors can seek
independent professional advice to assist them to discharge their duties,
at the Company’s expenses.
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board had determined
to be material, the matter will be dealt with by holding a board meeting
with the presence of disinterested Independent Non-executive Directors
or a meeting of a board committee set up for that purpose pursuant to a
resolution passed in a board meeting.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which seeks to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to educational background, ethnicity, working
experience, professional skills, knowledge and length of service. All board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates would bring to the Board.

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of whom three are
Executive Directors, two are Non-executive Directors and three are
Independent Non-executive Directors. The composition meets the
requirement of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third in
number of its members comprising Independent Non-executive Directors.
The three Independent Non-executive Directors are persons of high
caliber, with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting, business management and pharmaceutical industry
respectively. With their experience gained from senior positions held in
other organisations, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. The biographies
of the Directors are set out in pages 27 to 29 to the 2015 annual report,
which demonstrates the skills, expertise, experience and qualifications.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Li Kei Ling, the Chairman of the Company and Mr. Hung Yung Lai,
one of the Executive Directors, are directors and ultimate shareholders of
several private companies incorporated in Hong Kong and British Virgin
Islands.

Save as disclosed above, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.
The balanced Board composition is formed to ensure strong
independence exits across the Board which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.
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Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are willing to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution into the Board remains
informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the CG Code A.6.5 on
Directors’ training. All Directors have participated in continuous
professional development and provided a record of training they received
for the year ended 31 December 2015 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended
31 December 2015 is set out below:

updates on the business,
operations, and corporate

EETHEESXRR . EEMTYREHRREHNEM
BMAMRE  UHEREEETABIZAEMRIAMEZ
BATRESSELZER -

EEAGEETERTAEALSKERESEI  NEE
TE-RAFtTA=T-HIEFE 2REFFHAZH
HEZXER  YEMARRRMEMER ZEIIRE -

REBEZ-_Z-—AFT_A=T—RHILLFE FEZEX
Bl EARREERTIAT

Attending or participating
in seminars/

conferences relevant

to the management/
business/directors’ duties

Briefings and

governance matters

FHEK EER HEISMEERE EK
Directors = TEEAREECHBREY EEREEEEE 88
Ms. Li Kei Ling FHBR L 4
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RRRIIS ST A 4
Mr. Li Tung Ming ZHRFLEE v
Mr. Leung Hong Man RERTE v v
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %t 4 4
Mr. Pan Xue Tian ESEEE v
Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky BUEHSTS 4
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony BRI AE 4

The nomination committee will consider the appointment of new Directors
first by reviewing the profiles of the candidates and making
recommendations to the Board. New Directors appointed by the Board
during the year to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
shall retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first general
meeting immediately followed their appointment.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term of two years and
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”).
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At each AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to retire from office
according to the Company’s Articles. As the Company has eight
Directors, at least one third of them shall retire subject to rotation, and
barring unforeseen resignation/retirement during a year, each Director is
effectively appointed for an average term of not more than 3 years. Mr.
Hung Yung Lai, Mr. Pan Xue Tian and Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky will retire
at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi was appointed as Non-
executive Director by the board with effect from 15 June 2015. He will
retire at the forthcoming AGM. All retiring Directors are eligible for re-
election.

Under the code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, serving more than nine
years could be relevant to the determination of a non-executive director’s
independence and that any further appointment should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. Mr. Pan Xue Tian
and Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky have been appointed as the Company’s
Independent Non-executive Directors since June 2003 and September
2004 respectively. Their further appointment should be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved by shareholders. By taking into
account of their independent status in the Board in the past years, and
that they are not involved in the day-to-day management of the
Company, the Board believes Mr. Pan Xue Tian and Mr. Choi Tat Ying
Jacky are still independent and should be re-elected as the Company’s
Independent Non-executive Directors; such reason shall be set out in the
circular of the 2016 AGM for shareholders’ consideration.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his first appointment to have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the
business and governance policies of the Company. The Directors
endeavour to give sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs and
are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

The Independent Non-executive Directors take an active role in Board
meetings, contribute to the development of strategies and policies and
make sound and independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standard
of conduct. They will take lead where potential conflicts of interests arise.
They are also members of various board committees and scrutinize the
overall performance of the Group in achieving agreed corporate goals
and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance.
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The management has the obligation to supply the Board with monthly
updates and adequate information to enable it to make informed
decisions on matters placed before it. Where any Director requires more
information than is volunteered by the management, each Director has
separate and independent access to the Group’s management to make
further enquires if necessary. Where queries are raised by Directors,
management will respond as promptly and fully as possible.

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman (the “Chairman”)
and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Board has
appointed Ms. Li Kei Ling as the Chairman. She has executive
responsibilities and provides leadership to the Board such as ensuring all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and
received complete and reliable information in a timely manner so that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities. Before 1
March 2015, Ms. Huang Dongmei was appointed by the Company as
the Company’s CEO. CEO is delegated with the authority and
responsibility for managing the Group’s business operation and
implementing the development strategies. CEO will periodically present
the updated market situation, long term strategies and objectives of the
Group, quarterly results to the Board at the Board meeting. Variances
analysis between the actual performances and the budget targets are
explained in the meeting. This helps the Board to monitor the Group’s
business operations and to amend the targets when required. Ms. Huang
Dongmei resigned as CEO since 1 March 2015 and Ms. Li Kei Ling, the
Chairman, was appointed as the CEO. After the appointment, the roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are performed by the same
individual, which is a non-compliance to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code. The Board believes that the existing structure enables the
Group to make and implement decision promptly and efficiently which will
be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

The management provides explanation and information to the Board so
as to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other information put before the approval by the Board.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the interim and annual
financial statements and announcements to shareholders. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board
therefore continues to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the accounts.
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to the regulators as well as the information required to be
disclosed pursuant to the statutory requirements.

The responsibilities of the auditors to the shareholders are set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 44 and 45.

The Board has delegated to management the implementation of internal
control system as well as the review of relevant financial, operational and
compliance controls, and risk management procedures.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the Group’s
assets against loss and misappropriation; to maintain proper accounting
records for producing reliable financial information; to provide reasonable,
but not absolute assurance against material fraud and errors. The Group
has clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each
business and operational unit to ensure adequate checks and balances.
Policies are established to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, and industry standards. Rules and guidelines are set to
control treasury activities, financial and management reporting, human
resources functions and computer systems’ operations. Systems and
procedures are also established to identify, measure, manage and control
different risks arising from different business and functional activities.

The Board monitors and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of its
internal control systems through a programme of internal audit. The
internal audit department is set up by the Company to review the major
operational and financial control of the Group in compliance with the
established processes and standards on a continuing basis and aims to
cover all major operations of the Group on a rotational basis. The internal
audit department reports directly to the Chairman of the Board and the
Audit Committee.

The Board also monitors and assesses the Group in respect of the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the audit committee of the Company and the Board had
finished reviewing its internal control system and accounting and financial
reporting functions and considered that the key areas of the Group’s
internal control system are reasonably implemented. In response to
Listing Rules’ new requirements for risk management and internal control,
the Board has reviewed its policies and processes for risk management
and internal control, with a view to ensuring compliance with the new
requirements and exploring opportunities for further improvement.
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The day-to-day management of the Group is delegated to the
management by the Board, with division heads responsible for individual
department’s daily operations.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to
the management include the preparation of interim and annual reports
and announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing,
execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory
requirements and rules and regulations.

The Board has established the nomination committee, remuneration
committee and audit committee. The committees’ terms of references
defined their functions and responsibilities have been posted on the
Company’s website.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had Ms. Li Kei Ling as the committee’s
chairman, and the three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Pan
Xue Tian, Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky and Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony as the
committee’s members. The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference
are summarized as follows:

(1) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skill,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(2)  to nominate for the approval of the Board, candidates to fill board
vacancies as and where they arise;

(8)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(4) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

(5)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

During the year 2015, the Nomination Committee had four meetings to
review the independence of independent non-executive directors, the
renewal of Directors’ service contract and to recommend the
appointment of director.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) had Mr. Pan Xue Tian, an Independent
Non-executive Director, as the committee’s chairman, Ms. Li Kei Ling,
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky
and Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony, as the committee’s members. The
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are summarized as
follows:

(i) to recommend to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure of
all Directors and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(i)  to determine with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;

@iy  to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment;

(iv)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(v)  to ensure that no Director or any of her/his associates is involved in
deciding her/his own remuneration.

The Group’s remuneration policy bases on the market practice, the
qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. In
order to attract, retain, and motivate high-performance persons, the
Company has adopted share option scheme to reward those participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.

The Board considers that the executive directors of the Company and
the CEO are the key management of the Group. For the year ended 31
December 2015, the aggregate emoluments payable to directors and
chief executive officer were within the following bands:
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Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z & 4% 1,000,000 7T 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 781,000,001 7T & 2,000,000 7T 2

Details of the amount of Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in note 7 to the financial statements and the
details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.

The Remuneration Committee had four meetings in 2015 to determine
the salary adjustment of senior management and recommendation to the
Board the newly appointed Non-executive Director’s fee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) which
was established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The Audit Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company who among
themselves possess a wealth of management experience in the
accounting profession, commercial and pharmaceutical sectors.

As at 31 December 2015 the Audit Committee’s chairman was Mr. Choi
Tat Ying Jacky, Mr. Pan Xue Tian and Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony were the
committee’s members. The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are
summarized as follows:

(i) to consider and recommend to the board the independence,
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor;

(i)  to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(iiy  to review financial information; and

(iv)  to oversee financial reporting system, risks management and
internal control system.

During the year 2015, the Audit Committee had three meetings to
discuss financial reporting matters and any areas of concerns during the
audits. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the
changes in accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance
with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

The audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2015 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
recommending them to the Board for approval.

Ernst and Young has been reappointed as the Company’s external
auditors at the AGM on 22 May 2015 until the conclusion of the next
AGM. During the year 2015, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of services provided is as follows:

Fees for audit services amounted to RMB1,388,000.

Ms. Pang Kit Ling, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time
employee of the Group. During the year, the company secretary of the
Company had duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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There is no change in the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the shareholder(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the shareholder(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards, proposing a person for election as a director, please refer to
the procedures available on the websites of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all
shareholders. The Company establishes and maintains different
communication channels with its shareholders through the publication of
annual and interim reports and press release. Our corporate website
which contains corporate information, corporate governance practice,
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars issued by the
Company enables the Company’s shareholders to have timely and
updated information of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate
directly with the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board attends the
AGM and arranges the chairman of the committees or in the absence of
the chairman of such committees, another member of the committees to
be available to answer questions at the AGM. The Chairman proposes
separate resolutions for each issue to be considered, including the election
of Directors, and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll.
Voting results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of AGM.

26

REZE_Z-—AF+_A=1T—HILFE ETRFEZH
BERAMIASSREARL B EFED -

RBARB 2 AREBRERMBAESSIGZRTE @ F—
Ik IA PR 2 B3R A HIR A T RA R BB B (K
BERARBBRRAGRREN) 02 —HBR - RER
BIRAREBAARFEZEAMERHEREZ R &
REFGARBRRFHIAS  NEEFHERPIEAN
EAEE: BZRREENESZESEMEARNERT -
WEEE-t—BR EFEREARAZAE AR
(FDIHREAERSTABRZAE  WRREZEKRA
BHEEMABNEASRER - ARARAEERE -

HERERRIANAN AR 2 AR ABEIZMAALEFH
BRRAERRAEG LIRZEAFRER - ARIEZRE
BEZBRRAR ERMEREFERARAEHABRAE

R NCIEEN s

R ATRER B A AR 2 BB T BL £ 2 bl AF S
BT BT JE S5 33855 b8 R 30 3001-02F ) * MIE
EFeRHEARKEER -

TEERARFERRERFHNBREAEE AR
2 TRREREEREE  ETIDERRS  ®
BRERFME - ARAZBURERAEN  CEE
ARE ARATEZPBREERS - BE
(AR R R A RIS AR R 2 BHT A -

NE

ARRNBERBFEFASRHEESAREETTERER
RER BEEGIFHERRBFAES YRHESS
BETZEgNIE FAERFZEGNIFRERES
—HEZEEeREERRBFRE LMERA - TRELE
EEM c FHEFRDAERARER  Ri5e8Ex
YHERREZRBRARZESNETRR - REXR
ZERRBERBF ARG ARA AR LEH -



Ms. LI, Kei Ling, aged 67, is an Executive Director, the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Ms. Li is one of the founders
of the Group. She founded the Group in December 1995 and was
appointed to the Board and chief executive officer in October 2002 and
March 2015 respectively. Ms. Li is also the Chairman of Dawnrays
International Co. Ltd., Dawnrays International Co., Ltd. (B im BB (D&
R 2 A1), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Su Zhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong)
Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. She is the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Ms. Li has over twenty years of experience in corporate
management, strategic planning, business operations and finance, in
particular for pharmaceutical enterprises in the PRC. She is responsible
for supervising the strategic management decisions to ensure good
corporate governance practices and business policies are established,
and executing the overall developmental strategies of the Group. Ms. Li is
also responsible for the daily business operation and management of the
Group.

Mr. HUNG, Yung Lai, aged 71, is an Executive Director of the Company
and one of the founders of the Group. Mr. Hung founded the Group in
December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October 2002. Mr.
Hung also holds directorship in Dawnrays International Co. Ltd.,
Dawnrays International Co. Ltd. (5 % B BR A% 15 A R 2 &), Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Su Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong) Ltd., which
are all subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hung holds a degree from /&
F4LEB7T (Shanghai Conservatory of Music). He has over twenty years of
experience in corporate management and corporate development, and
has participated in founding and managing of pharmaceutical and high-
tech enterprises. Mr. Hung is an executive director and the chairman of
Sing Lee Software (Group) Ltd., a company listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LI, Tung Ming, aged 67, is an Executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Li joined the Group in April 2000 and was appointed to the Board in
January 2004. Mr. Li also holds directorship in Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Su Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science
and Technology Co., Ltd., Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science
and Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. and Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong) Ltd., which are all subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Li has over twenty years of experience in the
pharmaceutical industry in the PRC, and began his career in product
development, promotion, sales and corporate management in the
pharmaceutical market in the PRC in 1980. Mr. Li is responsible for
liaison with the Group’s academic network of medical experts and
academic advisers and assists in new product development of the
Group.
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Mr. LEUNG, Hong Man, aged 41, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He joined the Group and was appointed to the Board in
November 2005. Mr. Leung has started his business career in knitting
machinery since 1993. He has over 10 years experience in sales and
management and also over 10 years experience in finance and property
investments. In recent years, Mr. Leung has strived to exploit business in
hi-tech agriculture and arts and cultural industries. Mr. Leung currently is
the shareholder and the director of Toyo International Investment Ltd., of
which has been one of the substantial shareholders (as required to be
disclosed under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) of the
Company since September 2005.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, aged 57, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He joined the Group and was appointed to the Board in June
2015. Mr. Ede has extensive experience in financial and business
management in multinational companies. Mr. Ede currently holds the
position of chief financial officer and company secretary of Biosensors
International Group Ltd., a company which is proceeding to delisting from
Singapore Exchange due to amalgamation. During the period of
September 2006 to 3 March 2016, Mr. Ede was appointed to the board
of Mindray Medical International Ltd. (“Mindray Medical”), a company
delisted from The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) with effect from 4
March 2016 due to privatization. Mr. Ede was Mindray Medical’'s
independent director and a member of its audit committee and
transactions committee respectively when he resigned from Mindray
Medical due to company delisting from NYSE. Mr. Ede obtained his
Bachelor degree in Business Administration from The University of Hawaii
and a Master of Business Administration degree from The University of
Washington.

Mr. PAN, Xue Tian, aged 79, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Pan joined the Group in June 20083. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Pan has
extensive experience in drug administration and supervision, medical
hygiene and hospital management. Mr. Pan once held various senior
management positions in the Ministry of Health of the PRC. He graduated
from the medicine faculty of 7 B K38 % 27 (Dalian Medical University
of the PRC).

28

RERAE M5 ARBPEATES BN _FTH
FH+—AMAXEBERKREZEREST - REEB
—HNA=FRRITBERER  £HEREETHFEIA
REBETFER  URBTEFNSREEHERER
B MFERNARSFTEEZHBMUCEMTE - R
RERBAREBERKREARAR(BE_ETAFNAR
RARRRIREES RAERIIEXVIFRRENT R
BIRZ )RR RES -

EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %4 » 575 * NARIIEHITES -
FERZE—RAFNANMAREERFEEZFTARES - EDE
FERBEARMBERERECETAREEZLR -
EDE 4t 4 3R {T Biosensors International Group Ltd. ( — &
EEHEETRENERZFIEMRNAR) BBEERA
AWE - R-ZEFNAZ T E-AZHHH -
EDEL AW EREREHNEERAR ([BREE]) (—KE
ABEER=ZZ—"F= AMNARREALESFZ S 4
RETD)BEMHAR)EZEAES - EDELAERARRIRER
FIRmimEHt  RERABREENEYEZERS A
EZLZEENR5ZEENE -EDELARBERRARE
(The University of Hawaii) BX 15 T /5 & 12 2+ 207 K =
B%UE K B2 (The University of Washington) BX 18 T & & 1218
T8 o

BREEKE 795 ARFBIUIFRTES  BEERN
“RE=FANAMBEAEE - RERARFFMEES
IR BERZBERRAZEGNRE - BELEEEY
ERELEE BEFENEREETAEELELR -
BELEBRPREFEMEEZESREEERAA - &L
HEENTECERSRESK



Mr. CHOI, Tat Ying Jacky, aged 47, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Choi joined the Group in September 2004.
He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company respectively. Mr. Choi has extensive experience in financial and
treasury management, corporate finance, investment and audit. He
earned his Bachelor degree of Business Administration from Hong Kong
Baptist University with a first class honours in 1990. Mr. Choi is a
practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. LO, Tung Sing Tony, aged 47, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in October 2010. He is
a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company respectively. Mr. Lo has
extensive experience in financial management and business development
in Hong Kong and multinational companies. He obtained his Bachelor
degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and Master of Science in Financial Management from The
University of London. Mr. Lo is an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a full member of CPA
Australia. He currently holds the position of the Head of Corporate
Financial Control at The Hong Kong Jockey Club.
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) herein present their report and the
audited financial statements of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
audited financial statements on pages 46 to 129.

An interim dividend of HK$0.03 per ordinary share was paid on 23
September 2015. The Board recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.12 per ordinary share in respect of the year, to
shareholders on the register of members on 27 May 2016. This
recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements as an
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement of
financial position.

Review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2015
are presented in “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on page 5 and pages 8 to 10 respectively. The “Financial
Review” on pages 11 to 13 also includes an analysis of the Group’s
financial key performance indicators during the year. Future development
of the Group’s business are disclosed in “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5to 7.

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 7, “Financial Review” on page 14
and Note 32 to financial statements on pages 123 to 126. The Group’s
financial risk management objectives and policies are disclosed in Note
32 to the financial statements.

The applicable discussion and analysis as cross-referenced above shall
form an integral part of this Report of the Directors.
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As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintain the
highest environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. The Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in relating to its business including production,
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group understands a better future depends on
everyone’s participation and contribution. It has encouraged employees,
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in
environmental and social activities which benefit the community as a
whole.

The Board is well aware of the importance of environmental protection on
the Group’s sustainability and stable development, and at the same time
strives to improve product quality while achieving the best balance
between cost control and environmental protection. The Group has
established an environmental management system to promote clean
production, to reduce pollution and to reduce the risk of environmental
accidents. The Group aims to be a resource-saving and environment-
friendly enterprise with low energy and resources consumption and low
level of discharge on wastages. The Group’s health safety and
environmental protection department dedicates to strengthen its
environmental protection, actively implements environmental policies,
vigorously carries out environmental management, and takes energy-
saving measures to achieve reduction on pollution.

All of the Group’s production is conducted in Mainland China. The Group
is required to comply with the environmental protection laws and
regulations promulgated by the national and local governments of the
PRC. Some of these regulations govern the level of fees payable to
government entities providing environmental protection services and the
prescribed standards relating to the discharge of solid wastes, effluent
and gases.
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Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonable
remunerated and also continues to improve and regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational
health and safety. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and constantly endeavours to deliver quality products and
services to its customers. The Group also directs dedicated efforts to
deal with complaints about relevant products and has established
relevant processes to handle complaints. In addition the Group has
assigned staff to investigate customers’ complaint cases and provide
timely feedbacks in order to safeguard customers’ benefits. The Group
has established a supplier management system to handpick suppliers
through a screening and evaluation process based on quality and price.
Furthermore, the Group also carries out field audit on its suppliers when
necessary, with a view to make endeavour to ensure its suppliers are
equipped to provide guarantees on quality, as well as safety and other
environmental issues that require managerial skills. Such audit cover a
number of areas, including productivity, technical standards, quality
assurance, supply capability, as well as safety and environmental
management credentials. The Group also evaluates environmental and
social risks of its suppliers on a regular basis to ensure the safety of its
supply chains.

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out on page 130. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

During the year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to
RMB75,000.

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and land use
rights of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in notes
13 and 14 to the financial statements, respectively.

Details of interest-bearing bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2015 are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements.
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

During the year, the Company repurchased 3,852,000 shares of the
Company’s listed securities on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration of HK$19,650,840 before expenses. The repurchases were
effected by the Directors for the enhancement of shareholder value in the
long term. The repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled. The
monthly breakdown of shares repurchased during the year was as
follows:
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BERR -
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The highest price The lowest price Aggregate
Number of Shares paid per share paid per share consideration paid
Month of Repurchase repurchased (HK$S) (HK$) (HK$)
BRENESER BREANREER BRE
AEPERY) BEROGHA (#7T) (#7) (#&7)
January 2015
—E-HF—ANM 3,116,000 5.40 4.86 16,061,920
February 2015
—E-RF=Z Ak 736,000 4.97 4.76 3,588,920
Total #5t 3,852,000 19,650,840

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 35 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2015 the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to RMB287,899,000, of which RMB80,648,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year. Under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account of the Company of approximately
RMB76,861,000 as at 31 December 2015 is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. The share premium account may also be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 40.56% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 21.72%. Purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 22.82% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to 5.77%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Li Kei Ling

Mr. Hung Yung Lai

Mr. Li Tung Ming

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Hong Man
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi (appointed on 15 June 2015)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Pan Xue Tian

Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky

Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony

In accordance with the article 87 of the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”), Mr. Hung Yung Lai, Mr. Pan Xue Tian and Mr. Choi Tat
Ying Jacky will retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”). As Mr.
Ede, Ronald Hao Xi was appointed as Non-executive Director by the
Board since 15 June 2015 pursuant to article 86(3) of the Articles, he will
retire from office at the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible offer himself
for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from

Mr. Pan Xue Tian, Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky and Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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The Board considers the executive directors of the Company and the
CEO are the key management of the Group.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out on pages
27 to 29 of the annual report.

Ms. Li Kei Ling entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Ms. Li's service
contract was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1
July 2005 and will continue thereafter for successive terms of three years.
Her appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less
than three months’ written notice. Ms. Li is currently entitled to director’s
fee and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$1,162,800 per
year.

Mr. Hung Yung Lai entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Mr. Hung’s
service contract was renewed for a term of three years which
commenced on 1 July 2005 and will continue thereafter for successive
terms of three years. His appointment is subject to termination by either
party giving not less than three months’ written notice. Mr. Hung is
currently entitled to director’s fee and other remuneration from the Group
totally HK$742,800 per year.

Mr. Li Tung Ming entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 14 January 2004. Mr. Li’s
service contract was renewed on 1 January 2007 for a term of three
years and will continue thereafter for successive terms of three years. His
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Mr. Li is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$742,800 per year.

Mr. Leung Hong Man entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years which commenced on 1 November 2005 and will
continue thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. Leung is
currently entitled to a basic annual remuneration of HK$144,000. Mr.
Ede, Ronald Hao Xi entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of two years which commenced on 15 June 2015. Mr. Ede is
currently entitled to a basic annual remuneration of HK$180,000. Mr.
Leung and Mr. Ede’s appointment are subject to termination by either
party giving not less than one month’s written notice. Save for the above
directors’ fees, Mr. Leung and Mr. Ede are not entitled to any other
remuneration.
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Mr. Pan Xue Tian entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003 and will continue
thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. Choi Tat Ying Jacky
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of two years
which commenced on 30 September 2004 and will continue thereafter
for successive terms of two years. Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of two years which
commenced on 1 October 2010 and will continue thereafter for
successive terms of two years. Mr. Pan, Mr. Choi and Mr. Lo’s
appointments are subject to termination by either party giving not less
than one month’s written notice. Each of Mr. Pan, Mr. Choi and Mr. Lo is
currently entitled to an annual remuneration of HK$180,000. Save for the
above directors’ fees, the three Independent Non-executive Directors are
not entitled to any other remuneration.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group. There is no contract
of significance between the Group, its controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or were in existence during the year.

In the opinion of the Directors, none of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company and any of their respective close associates
has engaged in any businesses that competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly with the business of the Group or has any other
conflict of interests with the Group during the year under review which
are required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution
and/or discharge of his duties and/or the exercise of his powers and/or
otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or office,
to the extent as permitted by laws.
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The Company has acquired insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities which provides certain indemnities against liabilities
incurred in respect of any legal actions which may be taken against
Directors and officers in the execution and discharge of their duties or in
relation thereto.

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 21 June 2003 (the
“2003 Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 20 June 2013. All other
respects of the provisions of the 2003 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in full force and holders of all options granted under the 2003 Share
Option Scheme prior to such expiry shall be entitled to exercise the
outstanding options pursuant to the terms of the 2003 Share Option
Scheme until expiry of the said options. As a result, on 24 May 2013, the
shareholders of the Company approved at the annual general meeting a
new share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”), and took
effect immediately on 21 June 2013, which was after the expiry of the
2003 Share Option Scheme. The principal terms of the 2013 Share
Option Scheme and the 2003 Share Option Scheme are similar and are
collectively referred to as the “Scheme”. The detailed disclosures relating
to the Scheme including the purposes and the eligible participants of the
Scheme and valuation of options are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements. The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 81,342,400 shares which representing approximately 10.14%
of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of this annual
report.
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Movements of Company’s share options under the Scheme during the
year were as follows:

RER - ZETETAARBBEREZSOT

Number of share options
BREHE
Closing
price of the
Company’s
shares at
immediate
Date of grant of Exercise period of Exercise  date before
Granted Exercised Lapsed At share options () share options price the grant (c)
At1 January during during duringthe 31 December (dd/mm/yy) (dd/mm/yy) of share

2015 the year the year year (d) 2015 RuihE BEE options(h) RiERE
NameorCategory SHE#E W-B-IF TR TR R R-Z-1f A IR BRE A-RALE
of participant FE5) -A-8 o B B&M) T=A=1-A (R/ B/ &) (A/ B/ &) ﬁﬁf‘(b% M‘l&mf’(c)
s /M

Other employees ~ E#tES
In aggregate (¢) Bt 3,204,000 - (1,280,000) (160,000) 1,764,000 25/03/11 25/03/12-24/03117 313 34
800,000 - (200,000 (600,000) - 28/03/13 28/03/14-27/03119 2.08 200
2,000,000 - (400,000) (1,600,000) - 15/01/14 16/01/15-14/01/20 5.76 5.60
1,000,000 - (200,000 (800,000) - 12/06/14 12/06/15-11/06/20 5.72 5.73
3,000,000 - - (2,000,000) 1,000,000 17/09/14 17/09/15-16/09/20 6.44 6.07
2,700,000 - - (2,700 000) - 25/09/14 25/09/15-24/09/24 737 7.1
- 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 08/01/15 08/01/16-07/01/21 515 497
- 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 18/03/15 18/08/16-17/03/21 521 5.15
- 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 16/04/15 16/04/16-15/04/21 7.34 717
- 1,400,000 - - 1,400,000 23/11/15 28/11/16-22/11/21 6.38 6.37

12,704,000 16,400,000 (2,080,000) (7,860,000) 19,164,000

(a) The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant until the
commencement of the exercise period.

(b) The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

(c) The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at immediate date before the grant of
the share options is the Stock Exchange closing price on the trading day immediately
prior to the date of grant of the options.

(d) Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme due to resignation of
employees.

(e) Ms. Huang Dong Mei resigned as chief executive officer of the Company on 1 March
2015 but remained as a consultant of one of the Company’s subsidiaries until 31 May
2015. The share options granted to her were then regrouped under “Other employees”
after her resignation as the chief executive officer.

The price of the Company’s shares disclosed immediately before the
exercise date of the share options is the weighted average of the Stock
Exchange closing prices immediately before the dates on which the
options were exercised over all of the exercise of options within the
disclosure line. The weighted average closing price of Company’s shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised by
employees was HK$6.77. No options granted under 2003 Share Option
Scheme and 2013 Share Option Scheme were cancelled during the year.
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As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

RZZE-—RAF+ZA=+—H FFREFNEKRTL
HiREOEE (EE R B 5 LS ERN([E 5 R AE & )
FEXVER) BB - HERD RESFT - BHERERAR
AIRBESFRPERAE2KEFEENERLM - SiRE
EHRARERETEFRINRETRAMGEARAR
B PTEV S ROR R E PN T ¢

RARAEBRFPNGAE

Number of shares held,
capacity and nature of interest

BFENROBE BHRESZTE

Directly

beneficially
Name Notes owned
=t P aE BEERERES
Directors
=
Ms. Li Kei Ling (@ 48,400,000
FTHRLZT
Mr. Hung Yung Lai () -
ARRLIS ST A
Mr. Li Tung Ming (b) 112,000
FRAALA
Mr. Leung Hong Man (c) -
RERSAE

Percentage

of the

Through Company’s
controlled issued
corporation share capital
BBESAR Total (HERATEEHT
BE e RENEDL
294,072,000 342,472,000 42.55
294,072,000 294,072,000 36.54
40,000,000 40,112,000 4.98
48,468,000 48,468,000 6.02
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated

corporation:

Name of Director

EEEE

Ms. Li Kei Ling
FHR L+

Mr. Hung Yung Lai
RERLIS B4

Notes:

Name of
associated
corporation

HEEE SR
Fortune United

Group Limited

Fortune United
Group Limited

Relationship
with the Company
ERA 1 R WBA R

the Company’s
holding company

ARBEIERA

the Company’s
holding company

ZAYNEIL: S O/N)

RIEEEE IR () AR D P BV A
Number of Capacity
Ordinary and nature
shares of interest
BEZBERG H6HK
HE ®EME
2 Through a controlled

corporation

BB —EEHAT

Through a controlled
corporation

s — RS R

() 294,072,000 shares of the Company are held by Fortune United Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Keysmart Enterprises Limited,
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling, and Hunwick International Limited, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai, are each beneficially interested in 50% of the
share capital of Fortune United Group Limited.

(b) 40,000,000 shares of the Company are held by Time Lead Investments Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The entire issued share capital of
Time Lead Investments Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Li Tung Ming.

(c) 48,468,000 shares of the Company are held by Toyo International Investment Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Hong Man and Mr. Leung Yiu Sing
are each beneficially interested in 50% of the share capital of Toyo International
Investment Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or Chief Executive Officer had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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Save as disclosed under the heading “Share option scheme”, “Directors’
and Chief Executive Officer’s interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above and in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 28 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

As at 31 December 2015, the following interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Notes Nature of interest
=18 Mzt RERME
Fortune United Group Limited (@) Directly beneficially owned
BERESHE
Keysmart Enterprises Limited (@) Through controlled
corporation

BBESIRRRA

Hunwick International Limited (@) Through controlled
corporation
BIBIEHIA RS

Mdm. lu Pun (b) Family interest

et 22+ XEER

Toyo International Investment (©) Directly beneficially owned
Limited BEERBERESR

RBRERERRAR]

Mdm. Lo Mei Sai (d) Family interest

EER T EN L 3

Mr. Leung Yiu Sing (c) & (e) Through controlled

PR ST corporation

BBEHIARRA

BRpd bt [FBRcRERT &I — &5 - [EERAENERD XA
BRI R MR R | — 8 R ISR G 28 PR B Ak
HABEENEEN  FALEBEMNES  BRENELS
SR 18 BRH) F R ALE BB A R B R D K EFFH
TEWB SRR - IR BT REMZEFERN - A
NAE - HERARSEEEFAMB ARG SZERZHE - )
SCEENRBEMNEMEABRBARER -

RIZE-—RAF+-_A=+t—8 REFHFLHEEIE
BBHANARAFEM R B LM LALEk - RARA
Befn R ABRAR (D MO R BOX B BRI T ¢

n

Approximate
percentage to
the total number
of shares of the
Number of Company (%) Long position/
Shares held #{EA AT ERIT short position
BENROHE BENESLE BB KB

294,072,000 36.54  Long position
HE
294,072,000 36.54  Long position
o=y
294,072,000 36.54 Long position
HAE
294,072,000 36.54  Long position
"R
48,468,000 6.02 Long position
HE
48,468,000 6.02 Long position
A
50,568,000 6.28 Long position
HA

1



Name

=1

Ms. Chu Shuet Fong ()
KEF LT

UBS Group AG

Notes:
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Nature of interest

EErE

Family interest
KRB

(e) Through controlled
corporation

BREHIARRA

Person having a security
interest in shares
RO FARIEERDA
(@  Through controlled
corporation
RBESIARRHE
(h) Through controlled
corporation)
BBESIARRHE

The issued capital of Fortune United Group Limited is equally beneficially owned by
Keysmart Enterprises Limited and Hunwick International Limited which are in turn,
respectively, wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling and Mr. Hung Yung Lai, Executive
Directors of the Company.

Mdm. lu Pun is the wife of Mr. Hung Yung Lai and is deemed to be interested in the
shares of the Company held by Mr. Hung Yung Lai.

The issued capital of Toyo International Investment Limited is equally beneficially
owned by Mr. Leung Hong Man, the Non-executive Director of the Company and his
father Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

Mdm. Lo Mei Sai is the wife of Mr. Leung Hong Man and is deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Hong Man.

2,100,000 shares of the Company are held by Dragon Asia Industrial (Holdings)
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Yiu Sing and Mdm. Chu
Shuet Fong, his wife, are each beneficially interested in 50% of the issued share capital
of Dragon Asia Industrial (Holdings) Limited.

Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong is the wife of Mr. Leung Yiu Sing and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

According to the corporate substantial shareholder notice of UBS Group AG filed for
the relevant event dated 2 December 2015 as shown on the website of the Stock
Exchange, UBS AG, UBS Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited, UBS Asset
Management (Singapore) Ltd., UBS Asset Management Trust Company and UBS
Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A. are directly interested in 1,474,800 shares,
10,804,000 shares, 1,596,000 shares, 24,000 shares and 28,178,000 shares
respectively. Since they are all controlled by UBS Group AG, UBS Group AG is
deemed to be interested in 42,076,800 shares for the purpose of the SFO. Pursuant to
the same notice, UBS Group AG is interested in 25,600 shares through the holding of
certain listed physically-settled equity derivative.

Approximate
percentage to
the total number
of shares of the

Number of Company (%) Long position/
Shares held #¥{EA AT 21T short position
BENRAEE BRENEILE HR KB
48,468,000 6.02  Long position
S=)
2,100,000 0.26  Long position
S=)
1,724,000 0.21  Long position
S=)
42,076,800 5.23 Long position
[ S=Y
1,408,000 0.17  Short position

S
KB

Fortune United Group Limited # £ %77 #% 2% (5 Keysmart Enterprises
Limited & Hunwick International Limited *F ¥5 & & # A ° Keysmart
Enterprises Limited & Hunwick International Limited % 5I| B 78 A 7]
MPTESTHR LT REMEEE2ERE -
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REREERBZRXBRBREEFIERHESR -
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BB T E TR - IRIBZUBS Group AGHH AT —RF+=
AZHHBEBEEFENRAEZEMETBA - UBS AG * UBS
Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited + UBS Asset Management
(Singapore) Ltd. * UBS Asset Management Trust Company [z UBS
Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A. % Bl B # % 1,474,800 0% *
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(h) According to the corporate substantial shareholder notice of UBS Group AG filed for
the relevant event dated 2 December 2015 as shown on the website of the Stock
Exchange, UBS AG directly holds a short position in 1,408,000 shares. Since UBS AG
is controlled by UBS Group AG, UBS Group AG is deemed to hold a short position in
1,408,000 shares for the purpose of the SFO. Pursuant to the same notice, UBS
Group AG is deemed to hold a short position in 1,408,000 shares through the holding
of certain unlisted cash-settled equity derivatives.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no person, other
than the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, whose
interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive
Officer’s interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares”
above, had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as

auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Kei Ling
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2016
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 46 to 129, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower,

1 Tim Mei Avenue,

Central, Hong Kong

17 March 2016
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Year ended 31 December 2015 HE =T —RAF+-_A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE B QA TIZBERERSEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS

OF THE PARENT

— basic, for profit for the year

— diluted, for profit for the year
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Notes

B &

10

12

2015
—E-HF
RMB’000
AR®T T

985,000
(415,612)

569,388

31,481
(94,471)
(74,940)
(52,745)

(1,524)

377,189

(74,991)

302,198

302,198

RMBO0.3758
RMBO0.3747

2014
—E-NNF
RMB’000
ARET T

783,803
(323,884)

459,919

18,728
(99,412)
(61,009)
(56,529)

(2,804)

258,893

(53,748)

205,145

205,145

RMBO0.2547
RMBO0.2540



PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive loss to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent

Year ended 31 December 2015 BHE—Z—AF+_A=+—HIEFE

REEER

N HRSHES R B
Hih 2w A
bE 58

Ik

=HY

FEERBEHM
2HBERARE

FEERREZE
W EE

AT &AM
SREHEAA

2015
—E-HF
RMB’000
AR®T T

302,198

(1,343)

(1,343)

300,855

300,855

2014
—E-NNF
RMB’000
ARET T

205,145

(2,195)

(2,195)

202,950

202,950
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31 December 2015 R=ZE—hHF+=-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Land use rights

Construction in progress
Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Equity investments at fair value through

profit or loss
Cash and bank

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and notes payables
Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank loans
Income tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Government grants
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the parent

Issued capital

Reserves

Total equity

LI Kei Ling
FHIR
Director

EE
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Director

EE

Notes
BaE

13
14
15
16
26

17
18
19

20
21

22
23
24

25
26

27
29

2015
—Z-EfF
RMB’000
ARMTF T

597,233
41,216
4,304
18,629
9,131

670,513

147,747
282,173
13,830

3,683
685,790

1,133,223

143,128
114,400
8,847
18,050

284,425

848,798

1,519,311

2,683
42,752

45,435

1,473,876

85,206
1,388,670

1,473,876

2014
—E—-mF
RMB’000
AREFIT

626,185
42,257
13,086
15,814

6,123

703,465

87,581
200,062
17,805

5,440
679,047

989,935

107,385
99,809
188,268
11,173

406,635

583,300

1,286,765

3,475
35,010

38,485

1,248,280

85,348
1,162,932

1,248,280



consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE —F—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRREAELER
Share Capital Share Statutory  Exchange Proposed
Issued premium  redemption option  Contributed surplus  fluctuation Retained final Total
capital account reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve profits dividend Total equity
-t BR EERSH EX
BEi RHEE BERE Bl BABR Mg KBRE  REER ERAERS @ EREE
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
iR ARETL ARETn ARETn ARETn ARMTn ARMTn ARETn ARMTn ARETn ARMTn ARETn
(note 27) (note 28) (note 29) (note 29) (note 29)
(Witan) (Wit2s)  (Wite)  (W&te)  (W&29)
At 1 January 2015 R=F-1%5-A-B 85,348 84,050 2,715 6,540 100,175 175,316 (9,076) 748,515 54,697 1,248,280 1,248,280
Prof for the year RER R - - - - - - - 302,198 - 302,198 302,198
Other comprehensive loss TEEEM
for the year: 2EEE:
Exchange differences EiER - - - - - - 1,343) - - (1,343) (1,343)
Total comprehensive income KEERE
forthe year Jigatetd - - - - - - (1,349) 302,198 - 300,855 300,855
Exercise of share options ERRE 28 168 8,354 - 2179 - - - - - 6,350 6,350
Final 2014 dividend declared BE-3-IF
KRS - - - - - - - - (54,697) (54,697) (54,697)
Dividend on shares issued Q%
for employee share options +-A=t-H%
exercised after fiekEEERE
31 December 2014 FE LN - - - - - - - (49) - (49) (49)
Shares repurchased BEAARS 27 (310) (15,543) 310 - - - - (310) - (15,859) (15,859)
Equty-setfled share option DARER iR
arrangements a3 28 - - - 8,966 - - - - - 8,966 8,966
Interim 2015 dividend “I-RERERE 1t - - - - - - - (19,980) - (19960) (19,980
Transfer from retained profts ERBETmEY - - - - - 15,066 - (15,066) - - -
At 31 December 2015 RZ5-1%
+zA=+-8 85,206 76,861 3025 1834 100175 190382 (10419 1015312 - 143876 1473876
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Cconsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FaRaEnEx

Year ended 31 December 2015 BE T —AF+=—A=+—RAILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAEA AR
Share Capital Share Statutory Exchange Proposed
Issued premium  redemption option  Contriouted! surplus fluctuation Retained final Total
capital account resenve reserve surplus reserve reserve profts dividend Total equity
BA Bk EERH EL
BEIRA s BERE R HARH N REE REER REKHRE & BREE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i3 ARBTT  ARBTT ARETT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(note 27) (note 28) (note 29) (note 29) (note 29)
(HfE2r) (Mites)  (Wif2e)  (Hitew)  (Mitoe)
At1 January 2014 RZZ-BE-A-H 84,973 71,45 2715 6,713 100,175 160,354 (6,881) 639,078 43365 1001737 1,001,737
Proft for the year AERE = = = - - - - A1 - W55 25145
Other comprehensive loss TEEEM
for the year: 2EEE:
Exchange differences EXER - - - - - - (2,195) - - (2,19) 2,19)
Total comprehensive income KEERE
forthe year e - - = = = = 219 205,145 - %0 20290
Exercise of share options fripeERE 28 375 12,806 = B141) = = = = = 10039 10039
Final 2013 dividend declared ER-E-=F
KRS = = = o = = = - (43,365) (43,365) (43,365)
Dividend on shares issued for —5-c%
employes share options +-A=t-H%
exercised afer fimESERE
31 December 2013 FEARHHRE = S = = o = = “n = () (47
Equity-settled share option DiRES R RE
arrangements i 28 - - - 2,968 - - - - - 2,968 2,968
Interim 2014 dividend “T-PESHRE 1 = = = = = = = (16,002 = (16,00 (16,00
Proposed final 2014 dividend HRE-T-MERERE = = = = = = = (54,697) 54,607 = =
Transfer from retained profts BRB RN hER - - - - - 24,962 - (24,962) - - -
At 31 December 2014 RZE-RmE
+-A=1t-H 85,348 84,050 2,715 6,540 100,175 175,316 (9,076) 748,515 54,697 1,248,280 1,248,280
50  DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED » SE3580%5 (1/%) AR A7)



Year ended 31 December 2015 BHE—Z—AF+_A=+—HIEFE

2015 2014
—E-RfF —ET—OF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR®T T ARETFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHNRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax KR F5 A A 377,189 258,893
Adjustments for: TR
Finance costs W% ER 5 1,524 2,804
Interest income B A 4 (21,890) (13,900)
Dividend income from equity investments EBRBEA L ESEY
at fair value through profit or loss IR #E1% & H AR B A 4 (159) (267)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BENMEEIER
plant and equipment RIS 1E 6 222 112
Expense off intangible assets mLEEERt 6 - 550
Depreciation e 6 53,250 45,519
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 16 864 933
Recognition of land use rights T3 AR R 6 1,041 1,041
Gain on disposal of equity investments HEBBBERUAREBEYERZ
at fair value through profit or loss & i 1% & By i e 6 (168) (158)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AREER(WER) 55
Equity investments at fair value FHRBERUAAAETRZ
through profit or loss AL & 6 594 (204)
Equity-settled share option expense LA s e S7 A< i B AR e el 2 6 8,966 2,968
Write-down of inventories to net GFEMR = 2R FE
realisable value 6 15,800 15,074
Impairment of property, plant and Y% - BE - RERE
equipment 13 - 2177
Reversal and write off of impairment of BB K AR FE U B 5 OB RV E
trade receivables 6 - (442)
437,233 315,100
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOgMm), S (75,966) 53,232
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JEWRE 5 N Z i kIE (38 ), m
notes receivables (82,111) 181,583
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments FBRRUR A, (5 n) 4,206 (4,225)
Decrease in deposits and other receivables &5 N H b W SR IE Rk > 410 1,045
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BB ITEROR D, (8 0)
bank deposits 40 (36)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JERTE 5 MEE AL I, Ol )
notes payables 35,743 (137,754)
Increase in other payables and accruals E b 2 IE M TEIR B B 42,939 16,460
Decrease in government grants BRI 488 O (792) (409)
Income tax paid ERFTEH (63,380) (47,198)
Net cash flows from operating activities EEBELENRSMEFE 298,322 377,798
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Year ended 31 December 2015 HE =T —RAF+-_A=+—HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Interest received

Dividend income from equity investments at

fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of equity investments

at fair value through profit or loss
Increase in term deposits with maturity
over three months
Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment and construction in progress
Purchases of intangible assets

Purchases of equity investments at fair value

through profit or loss
Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of share options

Repurchase of shares

Proceeds from bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Dividends paid

Release of bank deposits pledged
for bank loans

Increase in pledged bank deposits
for bank loans

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Short-term deposits
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2015
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Notes RMB’000
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21,248

4 159
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4,128

(122,500)

(42,812)
16 (3,679)
(2,797)

(146,200)

6,350

(15,853)

25,127

(212,993)

5 (1,524)
(74,722)

235,631

(37,984)

114,138

443,366
5,776

563,280

64,632
498,648

563,280

2014
—mE
RMB’000
ARETT

12,682

267

156

1,384

(59,952)
(539)

(566)

(46,668)

10,039

55,436
(121,497)
(2,804)
(59,414)

257,121

(235,645)

(96,764)

234,366

205,771
3,229

443,366

250,963
192,403

443,366



Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands on 20 September 2002 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is
located at Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) underwent a reorganisation on 21 June 20083 to rationalise
the Group’s structure in preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which the
Company became the holding company of the Group (the “Group
Reorganisation”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 July 2008.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
development, manufacture and sale of non-patented
pharmaceutical medicines including intermediate pharmaceutical,
bulk medicines and finished drugs. In the opinion of the directors,
Fortune United Group Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, is the ultimate holding company of the
Company.
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RInEHER)BERRR(ARATGDRZTZEZ
FNAZTERBREFEARE(—NAA—FFE
=% KA REF)E+t_ERXHEHSEM
R AEREAR AT  AAR 2 M SR
# Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands * i1 &
DR EMEL 2 B R BB E (R EFFE 3385k 1L
&0 3012 3001-02 F ©

BREBEAE(CARRREMB AR (5HH A
SEDNRBUAEEARFTNBNETEHAR
ZRERRB(BRA)ERET  RZFT=
FRAZT B ARABRRARANEENHE R
AlER AR ([EEER]) -
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B PETHE  REERKE EFRA - RNE
B4 @ = R B i it B S A9 2 Al Fortune United
Group Limited + ZANA RIARAIEIRAF] ©
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31 December 2015 R=ZE—hHF+=-A=+—H

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

MELRER
ARRZMBRABFEBWT

Issued share/

Name operations paid-up capital
MR FE 817

AR EE REXEUE EHRERAE

Directly held

EERFE

Dawnrays International British Virgin Islands US$100
Company Limited EEBEBRES 1003 7T

RinBIR AR A A

Indirectly held

E#EHFE

Dawnrays International Hong Kong HK$500,000
Company Limited BB 500,000 7% 7T

RinBBERDERA R

Suzhou Dawnrays Mainland China US$45,000,000
Pharmaceutical Hp B K e 45,000,000 % 7T
Co., Ltd.*

BN IR GRAE !

Su Zhou Dawnrays Mainland China US$6,000,000
Pharmaceutical Science A B K R 6,000,000 % 7T
and Technology Co., Ltd.*

MR EER AR A A

Dawnrays Pharma Hong Kong HK$500,000
(Hong Kong) Limited B 500,000 7T

R E(BEB)ERAA]

Guangdong Dawnrays Mainland China RMB3,000,000
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.# RlEiPN 175 AR #3,000,0007T

BRRImEXRGRAF"

Dawnrays (Nantong) Mainland China US$10,000,000
Pharmaceutical Science alEipN 175 10,000,000 37T
and Technology Co., Ltd.”

Rin (@) BENMRARAR"

e These subsidiaries were registered under PRC law as foreign-owned &

enterprises.

Percentage

of equity
attributable to
the Company
bINNET|
EAERER DL

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

FEER

Investment holding
REZER

Investment holding and
sale of pharmaceutical
products

KREZER N HEBEEmM

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical
products

BLERIHE R EEmM

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical
intermediates

RS R IHE B e

Sale of pharmaceutical
products
HEBEEM

Sale of pharmaceutical
products
HEBEEM

Manufacture and sale
of pharmaceutical
intermediates

SLENMHEBERREE

ZEMBARRTEIEARZEMAINEERERE -



The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”). They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss that have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Cont’d)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy
for subsidiaries above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the revised IFRSs has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange relating to
the disclosure of financial information with reference to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial
year. The main impact to the financial statements is on the
presentation and disclosure of certain information in the financial
statements.
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The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

IFRS 9
Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14
IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 27

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint \Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception’

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations'’
Regulatory Deferral Accounts®
Revenue from Contracts
with Customer®
Leases*
Disclosure Initiative'
Disclosure Initiative
Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses?
Clarification of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation’
Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements'’
Amendments to a number of IFRSs!
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i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

8 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial statements
beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the
Group

6 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption
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Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing
together all phases of the financial instruments project to replace
IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1
January 2018. During 2015, the Group performed a high-level
assessment of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. This
preliminary assessment is based on currently available information
and may be subject to changes arising from further detailed
analyses or additional reasonable and supportable information
being made available to the Group in the future. The expected
impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised as
follows:

(@) Classification and measurement
The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS 9 wiill
have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair
value.

(b) Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded
at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts that are not accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9, to be
recorded based on an expected credit loss model either on a
twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group expects to
apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected
losses that are estimated based on the present value of all
cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade and
other receivables. The Group will perform a more detailed
analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable
information, including forward-looking elements, for
estimation of expected credit losses on its trade and other
receivables upon the adoption of IFRS 9.
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The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs. In July 2015, the
IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 15 regarding a one-year
deferral of the mandatory effective date of IFRS 15 to 1 January
2018. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and
is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements.
The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(i)  that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and
the statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

(i)  that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and
classified between those items that will or will not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of
financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 require companies to provide information
about changes in disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from
1 January 2017. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IAS 12 provides requirements on the recognition and measurement
of current or deferred tax liabilities or assets. The amendments
clarify the requirements on recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses, to address diversity in practice. The amendments
clarify that unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair
value in the financial statements but at cost for tax purposes can
give rise to deductible temporary differences. The amendments
also clarify that the carrying amount of an asset does not limit the
estimation of probable future taxable profits; and that when
comparing deductible temporary differences with future taxable
profits, the future taxable profits excludes tax deductions resulting
from the reversal of those deductible temporary differences.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017 and to be applied retrospectively. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2017. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

The IAS 27 Amendments allow entities to use the equity method to
account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already
applying IFRSs and electing to change to the equity method to
account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements are required to
apply the change retrospectively. The amendments will not be
applicable to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS 16
and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that
are generated from operating business (of which the asset is part)
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through the
use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be
used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be
used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016 as the
Group has not used a revenue-based method for the calculation of
depreciation of its non-current assets.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Cont’d)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will
be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES
These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of most of the group companies. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions.

The functional currency of the Company, Dawnrays International
Company Limited (“Dawnrays International”), Dawnrays International
Company Limited (“Dawnrays International (HK)”) and Dawnrays
Pharma (Hong Kong) Limited (“Dawnrays Pharma”) (collectively the
“Overseas Companies”) is the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these companies
are translated into RMB at the exchange rate prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rate for the
year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of the Overseas Companies are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of Overseas Companies which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rate for the year.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates
and sales taxes or duties. Revenue is recognised on the following
bases:

Sale of goods

Sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, provided that
the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries where the Group operates.
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INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

Deferred tax (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China (the “Mainland China Subsidiaries”) are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

ACCOMMODATION BENEFITS

Contributions to an accommodation fund administered by the
Public Accumulation Funds Administration Centre in Mainland
China are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, an appropriate capitalisation
rate shall be applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants (the Company’s directors, employees of the Group and
other eligible participants) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby eligible participants render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with eligible participants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-
Merton valuation model, further details of which are given in note
28 to the financial statements. The cost of equity-settled
transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the participants as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share
(further details are given in note 12).

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments
as defined by IAS 39. Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other income
and gains and negative net changes in fair value presented as
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” above.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only
occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.
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INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance
costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Held-
to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time
and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.
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INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Cont’d)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in other income, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” above.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the
ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous
gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment
using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new
amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
where observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If
a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
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IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit
or loss — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on
equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value
after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

M EERE(E)

BRATIRNEE
HWAEEEEEZERRARGEANSEHAEBEEAREM
TEARBEIRNFLTRATAKBIIETA
BEMBRUIIFETRATAYWANERKEE
HEBERERE  BRESRRZBEE ZREERR
BARRASREZRE(RBUMBEERRITHS
EHREHR) 2 ZRE - REEEZREBED
SEE -

A HETBIRE

RAIHEEMBEIREMNS - AEESNEEREH
RHEBERFENSB R —RARER—HARE N
BRME -

A EBEEC HIRRE - EAA (FIBRER A
NAER#HE) MRAERARBZER  HIKRAER
BaEXRERZREBERR  SREtbEEKESE

R B WS ERT HE R - BIRBUREERE
FZEBREN DR EBEARRPREEREKARE -
[EXR] TR RENRBKAETHE > MK
H] AEAEE AR EERERIGKABEETT
fl o IR ETR - B REHEE (RKEK AR
BRAARENZRERZBRELANERRRAME
R ERREBEFTE) SREtCE2ERET B
B - WHNBERRER - RINER M ST
BEZREBENLEBERRED  MEARER
BERNEMBNEEENEMEEKETHER -



IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Cont’d)

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded
for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference
between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is
recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the statement of profit or loss if
the subsequent increase in fair value of the instruments can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes payables,
other payables and loans and borrowings.
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Over the lease terms
20 to 25 years

51to 10 years

3 to 25 years

4 years

Leasehold land

Buildings

Machinery and other equipment
Office equipment

Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of
depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of
the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the
obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase
and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are
included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the
statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate
of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

LAND USE RIGHTS

Land use rights represent prepaid land lease payments under
operating leases, which are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included
in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property,
plant and equipment.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit
level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
(Cont’d)

Research and development costs (Cont’d)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.

Category Estimated useful life
il s Al € A 1
Software 10 years

;i 104F

Deferred development costs 10 years

IRFE B BN 104F

The estimated residual value is zero.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and

condition are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on a weighted-average basis

Finished goods and ~ Cost of direct materials and labour and a
work in progress proportion of manufacturing overheads

based on the normal operating capacity
but excluding borrowing costs

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted or pledged as to use.
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PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with the general guidance for provisions above; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with the guidance for revenue
recognition.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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RELATED PARTIES (Cont’d)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

DIVIDENDS
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. In prior years, final

dividends proposed by the directors were classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the
statement of financial position. Following the implementation of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed final

dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association

grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.
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The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement which has the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Initial
capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgements that
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a
product development project has reached a defined milestone
according to an established project management model.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of receivables

Impairment of receivables is made based on assessment of their
recoverability. The identification of impairment of receivables
requires management’s judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of the
receivables and impairment loss/reversal of impairment in the
period in which such an estimate has been changed.
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ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of a similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or
competitor actions. Management reassesses these estimates at
each reporting date.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indications of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting
period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and has two reportable segments as
follows:

(@)  Manufacture and sale of intermediates and bulk medicines (the
“intermediates and bulk medicines” segment)

(b)  Manufacture and sale of finished drugs (including antibiotics
finished drugs and non-antibiotics finished drugs) (the
“finished drugs” segment)

Management monitors the operating results of these operating
segments for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure
of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except
that interest income, finance costs, government grants, dividend
income, fair value gains/losses from the Group’s financial
instruments as well as head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and bank,
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.
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Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank loans, tax payable,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group

basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.

Year ended
31 December 2015

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Unallocated gains
Corporate and other
unallocated expenses
Finance costs

Profit before tax

BE-—Z—8fF
+=A=+-—-AR
LLFE

DEWA
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SRR
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EERFEAMR
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Intermediates

and bulk
medicines
e
S35
RMB’000
AR%T R

239,612
95,424

335,036
(37,862)

31 December 2015 A =& —

DREETEE BRI

HABEREMADS LA

BENEEREEEE -

DERMHE BEREI2R
H S AT AR TS B ETT ©

Finished
drugs

B B
RMB’000

ARBTR

745,388

745,388
498,280

Elimination of
intersegment
sales

K 88
DEEEE
RMB’000
ARET R

(95,424)

(95,424)

K RNTIE R
B&i%%%'

REBEERS

AFE+—A=+t—H

LRERR
TIHRZE

*

Total

Y
RMB’000

ARBTR

985,000

985,000
460,418

28,549

(110,254)
(1,524)

377,189
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Year ended
31 December 2014

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Unallocated gains
Corporate and other
unallocated expenses
Finance costs

Profit before tax

As at 31 December 2015

Segment assets:
Reconciliation:
Corporate and other
unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities:
Reconciliation:
Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities
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Intermediates
and bulk
medicines

o fE A8

R JR e
RMB’000
ARBT T

150,032
64,775

214,807
(30,769)
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TREE -

e

CEREMARDEEE

i

2 W
w
i

R i

e
ey

Finished
drugs

X %%
RMB’000
ARBETT

633,771

633,771
381,250

Intermediates
and bulk
medicines
e R RR B
RMB’000
AR®T

468,460

117,973

Elimination of
intersegment
sales

i
DIEEHEE
RMB’000
AREFTT

(64,775)

(64,775)

Finished
drugs
PR &
RMB’000
ARBTT

539,964

78,786

Total

S
RMB’000
ARBTT

783,803

783,803
350,481

17,143

(105,927)
(2,804)

258,893

Total

Y
RMB’000

ARET T

1,008,424

795,312
1,803,736
196,759

133,101

329,860
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Intermediates
and bulk Finished
medicines drugs Total
FR R B8 % R R} 22 X %2 1RE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 31 December 2014 RZE—WNFE+=-_A=+—H ARBFIT ARETIT AREFIT
Segment assets: DEEE 399,095 491,756 890,851
Reconciliation: R
Corporate and other unallocated TEREMRDIEEE
assets 802,549
Total assets BEE 1,693,400
Segment liabilities: SHEEE 96,546 68,250 164,796
Reconciliation: S &
Corporate and other rEREMRIEAE
unallocated liabilities 280,324
Total liabilities BeE 445,120
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION EDE
(@) Revenue from external customers (@ REIMEBEFHBA
2015 2014
—ZE—0F —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETIT
Mainland China A B K RE 861,111 692,680
Other countries HAth B 123,889 91,123
985,000 783,803
The revenue information above is based on the locations of FRBRAERERERFMEHET -
the customers.
(b) Non-current assets b) FRBEE
The Group’s operations are substantially based in Mainland AEENLEFZEERETEARE  ~5H
China and over 95% of the non-current assets, exclude HiB5% MIEMBEE ((TEIERTEHRIEE
deferred tax assets, of the Group are located in Mainland E)ERERRARE  MIERBDEENDE
China. Therefore, no further analysis of geographical ERE— LM AR2TR -
information is presented.
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS FEEFEERE
Revenue of approximately RMB213,940,000 (2014: FR3 U A E s #9 A R 213,940,000 7L ( —Z—
RMB147,513,000) was derived from sales by the finished drugs F: AR¥147,513,00070) R AKX oD fBHE 4
segment to a single customer. —RKEF .
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Revenue, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WAEHEEMNGREE ESIMMMBERFE -
allowances for returns and trade discounts.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as AEBWA - EMRA RIS
follows:
2015 2014
—E-I1% kit
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Revenue ON
Sale of goods HEE S 985,000 783,803
Other income Heb A
Bank interest income HRITH EUWA 21,890 13,900
Dividend income from equity investments at HREF AR EY R Z RERER
fair value through profit or loss AR E WA 159 267
Foreign exchange differences b 5 =58 2,951 -
Government grants ERIF R 3,689 2,484
Others Hith 2,624 1,715
31,313 18,366
Gains &
Gain on disposal of equity investments at HEFEBERNASETYR 2 IRE
fair value through profit or loss WE R 168 158
Fair value gains, net: AaEME - FE
Equity investments at fair value through BiRBmAAL BN ZRERE
profit or loss - 204
168 362
31,481 18,728
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZE-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ARAEFRNBHEEDN
within five years IRITERZFE 1,524 2,804
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The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): NEBWBR AR &R (5FA) THI&IEA
BET :
2015 2014
—E-AEF —Z M4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR® T AREFIT
Cost of inventories sold* BEEFERA" 412,153 321,251
Depreciation e 13 53,250 45,519
Recognition of land use rights** T AR 14 1,041 1,041
Research and development costs: N N
Amortisation of intangible assets*** | B R 16 639 708
Current year expenditure AEESH 31,921 30,681
32,560 31,389
Minimum lease payments under KEMH T 2 ZEES -

operating leases:

Buildings g 888 846
Auditors’ remuneration 1ZEREN N & 1,388 1,388
Employee benefit expense (including EERAMS (BEEER

directors’ and chief executive officer’s wEME (WHE7)) -

remuneration (note 7)):

Wages and salaries ITENFHS 86,621 68,849

Equity-settled share option expense AR TR R R X 8,966 2,968

Retirement benefits ERIRTEF 7,464 6,717

Accommodation benefits EFEEF 3,464 3,081

Other benefits HEA 12,096 11,850

118,611 93,465
Foreign exchange differences, net PEN =5 %5 (2,951) 6,401
Impairment of property, plant and W R - RERE

equipment 13 - 2,177
Reversal and write-off of impairment & (0] X Wk FE UG 5 R (B

of trade receivables 18 - (442)
Write-down of inventories to net FEMR A ZR%E

realisable value 15,800 15,074
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AREEE (W) - FE

Equity investments at fair value through  #EiBE R AR B BR 2 kg

profit or loss ®E 594 (204)
Bank interest income RITH B ULA 4 (21,890) (13,900)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BMELRESEEN

plant and equipment B8 222 112
Expense off intangible assets mEEER( 16 - 550
Gain on disposal of equity investments at & & @iz AR B BRE Z A%

fair value through profit or loss PR B W e 4 (168) (158)

The depreciation of RMB43,583,000 for the year is included in “Cost of * REEHERH AR 43,583,000 LB A [BEEFEK
inventories sold”. K] o
The recognition of land use rights for the year is included in “Administrative * FA T ERAEERT AR BRRN [TTREM] -

expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is included in “Other e FANEFEEREGT A GEERRN [HtB/A] -
expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Directors’ and chief executive officer’'s remuneration for the year, RIE £ R A R E B R aHEBISE 383(1)(@@), (b), (c) &
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(@), (b), (c) NETRANEHEFIE - (EEF BRI EE) TEE
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the FANEEREZIMEOT :

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBETIT

Fees e 728 574
Other emoluments: E b e -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R EYRA 3,109 2,098
Equity-settled share option expense VAR #E = < O R AR A B = - 2,345
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHR 56 55
3,165 4,498
3,893 5,072
(@) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (@) BIFEHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during REEEIIENTESHRESAT ¢

the year were as follows:

2015 2014
—E-1% —T—mE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Mr. Pan Xue Tian EEREA 140 119
Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky BERSE 140 119
Mr. Lo Tung Sing, Tony BRI & 140 119

420 357
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent ANEEWEENBLIFNTESHEMME
non-executive directors during the year (2014: Nil). (ZZE—F : &) -
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 7. EEZER#ATME (&)
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE (b) BITEE - FHTEBEREAR
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits  share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration

e 2ZER  AREXAH
s ENEN  BRERX BASTEMR Heas
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR  ARETR

2015 —2-1f
Executive directors: HIESE:
Ms. Li Kei Ling* FHBL
(also the Chief Executive Officer, — (R48% » 1
appointed on 1 March 2015) “T-1F
=A—BEEMF) 39 885 - 18 942
Mr. Hung Yung Lai R 39 545 - 18 602
Mr. Li Tung Ming TERAEE 39 545 - 18 602
117 1,975 - 54 2,146
Non-executive directors: FNITES
Mr. Leung Hong Man ARRRE 112 - - - 112
Mr. Ede, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi
(appointed on 15 June 2015) N
—T-0fF
~NATEA
WER) 7 - - - 79
191 - - - 191
Chief Executive Officer: L
Ms. Huang Dong Mei* BRI
(resigned on 1 March 2015) (R=F—h&F
=R—HEE) - 1,134 - 2 1,136
308 3,109 - 56 3,473
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7.

96

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER (Cont’d)

7. EBRAIME(E)

(b)

BITES  FUTESRAR(E)

Salaries,
allowances  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration
e 2R REZRAH
ik EmEH BRERY RIKSETK B & 12
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
2014 —T-mF
Executive directors: HITESF
Ms. Li Kei Ling* FHBL 38 867 - 17 922
Mr. Hung Yung Lai ARRME LA 38 534 = 17 589
Mr. Li Tung Ming FRPTE 38 534 - 17 589
Mr. Gao Vi SREE
(resigned on 9 March 2014) (RZF—MmE
=ANB#EHE) 7 163 - 4 174
121 2,098 = 59 2,274
Non-executive director: FNITES
Mr. Leung Hong Man ARRRE 9% - - - 95
Chief Executive Officer: ag
Ms. Huang Dong Mei* LRt
(appointed on 9 March 2014 (RZZ—m4F
and resigned on 1 March 2015) ZANBHEZEER
R-E—R4E
=RA—B&fT) - 953 2,345 13 3,311
216 3,051 2,345 68 5,680

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

* Ms. Huang Dong Mei was appointed to act as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 9 March 2014, and Ms. Huang resigned on
1 March 2015 but remained as a consultant of one of the Company’s
subsidiaries until 31 May 2015. Ms. Li Kei Ling was appointed to act as
the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 March

2015.

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED o 3 Im&i%5 (12

ERR) IR A A

FAMBEERRAATRETAMNEHOR
BE e

BEABREIRN -_ZE-NE=ZANAREZEARER
AIERI N T —RF=F—HEEES BN
BELERAAREST —HHNBLARERNEE "%
—AFAA=+—R -FERLZIRWN-_ZT—AF
ZA-BABEERARRIER



The five highest paid employees during the year included the chief
executive officer who is also a director and the predecessor chief
executive officer who resigned on 1 March 2015 (2014: one chief
executive officer and three directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 7 above. Details of the remuneration of the
remaining three (2014: one) non-director and non-chief executive
officer highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYEF
Equity-settled share option expense LARR #E =2 A5 ) B AR b B =2
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET IR

The number of non-director and non-chief executive officer, highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands
is as follows:

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

FARURSHERCEAHAFREERN _T—1
FZA—BBENAAER(ZF—NF - — (I8
R=UEZF) BEZMSFBERN EXMET -
BT (T —NF: —f)FEERFERR
S EESNFANNEHIT -

2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBETIT

5,952 603
6,326 33
34 18
12,312 654

Mee@ENF TIANNFEERFERTEH
BEEMABIAT :

Number of employee

EEAZ
2015 2014
—E—FEF —EF—mF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T #1,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 ¥ 5,500,001 7T =8 ¥ 6,000,000 7T 1 -
3 1

During the year, share options were granted to three non-director
and non-chief executive officer highest paid employees in respect
of their services to the Group, further details of which are included
in the disclosures in note 28 to the financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

FR - ZRFEERFRBESHTHERRRES
REB RS MER TRAE - FBEHNEHREM
A28 ET c ZMERBHHNEERERZE
BEARERETEEERBEEAFENBKR
RZeBWOCELAFERFRESRSHMERN
BB E A -
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In compliance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (the “MPF Ordinance”), the Company, Dawnrays
International Company Limited and Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong)
Limited have participated in the MPF Scheme, a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee, to
provide retirement benefits to their respective Hong Kong
employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme are made in
accordance with the statutory limits prescribed by the MPF
Ordinance.

As stipulated by the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) state
regulations, the Mainland China Subsidiaries participate in a defined
contribution retirement scheme. All employees are entitled to an
annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average basic
salary amount of the geographical area of their last employment at
their retirement date. The Mainland China Subsidiaries are required
to make contributions to the local social security bureau at 20% to
22% (2014: 20% to 22%) of the previous year’s average basic
salary amount of the geographical area where the employees are
employed by the Mainland China Subsidiaries.

The Group has no further obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out above.

According to relevant rules and regulations of the PRC, the
Mainland China Subsidiaries and their employees are each required
to make contributions to an accommodation fund at 8% to 10%
(2014: 8% to 10%) of the salaries and wages of the employees
which is administered by the Public Accumulation Funds
Administration Centre. There is no further obligation on the part of
the Group except for such contributions to the accommodation
fund.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no significant obligation
apart from the contributions as stated above.

RO LB ST EUEPD(TBES GRH]) R
E o ARE] - RInBEREOERARERRINA X
(BFB)BRAREMA—IRRE S8 (HBILE
RAERZERHNGE)  SEBEBREEENK
@A o MR IE S At BIE R R T IRIRR TR 2 (R D1
FATRREVRERBERTE

BREERERAE  RREAERBARAELES
ZREETE - FIBEEREERKRBHERZERSE
BESBHWHTHEAFSHNE T HTENE
ERAKE - PEKENBARARE T SRES
ik EFIREERER TR AENEB A AR X
FHFHERFER20% E22%( — T — P 4F :
20% & 22%) T E o

B Bt FEHRON - AREL ER T EAMER
RAER -

RIEFBIMERRAIRER - FRAENEAR &
FERESAAREENTERIEMNSHE10%
—ZEPF 8% E10%) M —HELEEEIEF
HDEEBENFEESHER -KRZEREBREEESH
N AEEWEEMEAT -
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The major components of income tax expense for the years ended
31 December 2015 and 2014 are:

Current income tax BT EH
Current income tax charge EHMEHI T

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

BE_T-AFR_T-MFE+-_A=+—AL
FEMBHXHNEZAKIEOMT :

Adjustments in respect of current income tax B BB EEE B HFF G AR

in previous years

Deferred income tax (note 26) EFEFTE (MI5E26)

Total tax charge for the year

Pursuant to section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (1999 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands, the Company has obtained an undertaking
from the Governor-in-Council that no law which is enacted in the
Cayman Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income,
gain or appreciation shall apply to the Company or its operations.
The undertaking for the Company is for a period of 20 years from 8
October 2002. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to tax.

The subsidiary incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) is
not subject to income tax, as this subsidiary does not have a place
of business (other than a registered office only) or carry out any
business in the BVI.

The Hong Kong subsidiaries are subject to a statutory corporate
income tax rate of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) under the income tax rules
and regulations of Hong Kong. No provision for Hong Kong profits
tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits arising
in its respective Hong Kong subsidiaries during the year (2014: Nil).

REEHIAL A

2015 2014
—ZE-hF —E-OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T ARET T
70,257 50,089

- 1,105

4,734 2,554
74,991 53,748

REMSHSBRBRLE(—ANNFBETA) E6
I ARFEEGRESRATRBRE | HENS
I FORREAR ASHET OFBEF - B - I
AHERR - YARAFEE R _FE_6+
ANBRER=TF - Bl - KATBEMH -

R 4 R B B S M A SZ BV Y BB 8 ] B R A
PIEH  REMBARIRN BB RA BT EE R
Ho R (HEREM B BERR SN ) A EMEM KT -

RIBRBBHOFTSRRAERG - BENBARER
EEDEMESHE16.5% (T —M4E : 16.5%) 54
o ARAEERAFEEDTBNEHNB QAT E
EERERFEF - WA ER BB EHIED BE
ZEUF ) o
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According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law effective from 1
January 2008, the Mainland China Subsidiaries are all subject to
income tax at the rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

On 21 October 2008, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical”) was qualified as a High-New
Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) of Jiangsu Province. As a result,
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical had been entitled to a
concessionary rate of income tax at 15% for three years
commencing on 1 January 2008. During the years ended 31
December 2011 and 31 December 2014, Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical renewed, for every three years, the qualification of
the HNTE of Jiangsu Province. As a result, Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical was continuously entitled to a concessionary rate
of income tax at 15% commencing on 1 January 2011.

All other subsidiaries in Mainland China were subject to the
corporate income tax rate of 25% in 2015.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable to
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

RER-_ZZENE - —BREXRNT R PR
/UL - PEIAENE R RARER BRRTRA
B 25% FT 1515 R BAL ©

RZZEZNF+A-+—8  HMNEBREFRAQ
AI([ERIN R IR ) ERUT &L o i ([ =
R ER - At SN RInReEEE =
TR NF-A-BEN=ZFRNZZ15%NEERFN
BRE RZE——FF+_A=+—HILFER=
T-MF+-A=1+—HIEFER RN EIRR %
BFESIHEMEMCENERNER B
EMN RS Eg T ——F— A —BREANZE
2 15% BB BFTEHIER o

MEAENMEEMHBARNR — T - HFAR
25% HE BN EFFEH

BREHEEEAETUE - R BAREKRIZHINEHR
BOERMEREETIRNEE - AL 10% 07
RYEBIHR - ZREA _TENF—HA—BELE
B WEAR-_FTTLF+_A=+—HENA
A o fief o B K PE BRSINRT $ 8 B PR FE DA B IR B %RR
B - BATRARERNTRIIR X - AEEE
ARiER% At BEZTTNF—A—HE "
782 B A A A B K e PR SZ O B B R R AT EE AE Y
AN RN R EBTHREFENRNER -



A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory rate for the country or jurisdiction in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

i AR BR B A e A 30 AR R R R EOR BB A9 B B
EE%.%/T/%TEE/X;ETRT n"— Ziﬂléiﬁgﬁi
NERHERAE 2RI B - ARERM KA

tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the

applicable rate to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

Accounting profit before income tax

At the PRC’s statutory income tax rate of 25%
(2014: 25%)

Tax effect of profits entitled to tax concession
or lower tax rate enacted by local authority

Effect of withholding tax on the distributable
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries

Adjustments in respect of current income
tax of previous years

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax credit for qualified research and
development expense

Tax losses not recognised

Tax losses utilised from previous periods

At the effective income tax rate of 19.88%
(2014: 20.76%)

Interim — HK$0.03 (2014: HK$0.025)
per ordinary share

Proposed final — HK$0.12 (2014: HK$0.085)
per ordinary share

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

BERFEZEHRMOT ¢
2015 2014
=F-HF —T—0F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
BRATIS R AT g 5T s 377,189 258,893
B BAE TSR R 25%
(ZZT—4 : 25%) 94,297 64,723
A = R BB 25 N o b
BERERR 2R E (38,477) (28,082)
AEBE P RKE QR ZA]DE
ol iRk Th =% 16,521 11,282
ERBEFEEEHAMER AR
- 1,105
Bk b 2,347 130
A TR I AT 3 B K R T3 H:
(2,216) (1,909)
RERTIREE 2,915 6,499
FIFB LART & [ AT N FR A B 18 (396) =
BEBRATSHEIE19.88%
(ZZ—1 : 20.76%) 74,991 53,748
2015 2014
—E-hfF — 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
FHIRR S - FEBAREH 0.03 T
(ZZ—m4 : E#0.0257T) 19,980 16,002
RIS  BFEEREK 12T
(ZZT—/4 : B¥0.0857T) 80,648 54,697
100,628 70,699
RREORPBREFTFEARFBRRABRERF KX
SRIE -
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The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BREABNEREG AR EBERERTEE ARG
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and AEEBMNRFASBITEBABRARD 2 NETFH
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 804,079,978 & 81804,079,978 % (—ZZF — M4 : 805,342,789%)

(2014: 805,342,789) in issue during the year. AHE -

REFTEEERBRBN N E BRI < NEF
BERBEEREESRERBNNEAND T

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share is the number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per TRARAEER - N E AT RE AT s iR A ECEERA
share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary TREmMEBEREEEERITHT B 2 NEFH
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the AR & -

deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary

shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based T RAEFEGRERAT REEZGRARN

on: RIEE -
2015 2014
—Z2—0F —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Earnings &7
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BAREBEREREE ARG ST
holders of the parent 302,198 205,145

Number of shares

ROEE
2015 2014
—E-1¥% —T—mE
Thousands Thousands
Tz Tz
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary shares HEGREKRBIAEAERND T
in issue during the year used in the basic T AR I AE 15 2k
earnings per share calculation 804,080 805,343
Effect of dilution — weighted average number — E#E#HE2/Z — N F15E @A AR Er
of ordinary shares: Share options B A 2,473 2,391
Weighted average number of ordinary shares gt s £ /EH A% 2 T
adjusted for the effect of dilution BRI R 806,553 807,734



Cost:

As at 1 January 2014

Additions

Transferred from construction
in progress

Transferred to construction
in progress

Disposals

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015

Additions

Transferred from construction in
progress (note 15)

Disposals

Cost adjustments (a)

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2015

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
As at 1 January 2014
Depreciation provided for the year
Impairment for the year
Transferred from construction
in progress
Transferred to construction
in progress
Disposals
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015
Depreciation provided for the year
Disposals
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2015

Net book value:
As at 31 December 2015

As at 31 December 2014

Leasehold
land
BE+#
RMB'000
ARETTL
B
RZZ-mE—F—H 24,506
RE _
ERTRER
BAEETR
HE -
fEH A% 616
R=E-ME+=A=+-A
R-E-1%-A-H 25,122
AE =
ERIRER (i 15)
e _
HREEQ =
EH A% 1,127
R-E-EF+-A=1+-H 26,249
ZHFERAE:
W-F-NF¥-A-A 36
FRNERHE 29
FRRE -
FRIRER
BAERIR
e _
AR 1
RZZ-ME+-A=1+-H
ER=B-T£-HA-H 66
FRTERRE 31
v -
AR 3
R=B-ZF+-A=1-H 100
REFE
R-E-ZF+-A=1+-H 26,149
R=2-WE+=A=+-H 25,056

Buildings

L
RMB'000

ARETT

234,826

37,219

(5,740)
(120)
98

266,283

2,586

(6,438)
181

262,612

65,107
11,821

16
76,944

185,668
201,176

(@) Cost adjustments represented the adjustments to the costs
of buildings, machinery and other equipment according to the
construction audit results.

(b) At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s leasehold land
and building in Hong Kong with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB29,821,000 (2014: RMB28,732,000) were
mortgaged to secure a bank loan (note 24).

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

Machinery
and other Office Motor
equipment equipment vehicles Total
BER
HitiR e BAERME "E e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETTL

480,202 10,829 13,265 763,718
613 149 91 853
157,529 239 127 195,114
(34,047) 67) - (39,854)
(530) (268) (585) (1,509)

- 30 - 744
603,857 10912 12,898 919,072
1025 10 - 1,130
19,563 299 - 20,448
(835) 679) (450) (2,014
6,106 - - (332)
- 57 - 1,365
629,666 10,694 12,448 941,669
157,206 6,651 9,769 206,886
33,083 786 936 45519
2177 - - 2177
36,005 138 - 39,534
(17,769 (61) - (20,009
(455) (239) (527) (1,235)

- 8 - 15
210,253 7283 10,178 292,887
39,964 766 668 53,250
(722) (611) (406) (1,739

- 19 - 38
249495 7457 10440 344,436
380,171 3287 2,008 597,23
393,604 3629 2,720 626,185

5
g

IRRERRBETRERAEREET - #25
MDA HETTHREE

b) R=ZTE—RAF+=—A=+—H AEEET
EEHELHEEFEAFEHNARE
29,821,0007t( — & — M F: AR %
28,732,000 7t) B IR EIR—ERITE R (K
F£24) °
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The Group’s land use rights represent prepaid land lease payments NEE 2z T fFRERRKEERNEN 2 T
under operating leases and their carrying amounts are analysed as ERRHEEREREINEOT
follows:
2015 2014
—EB-afF —ZE—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BIREE 42,257 43,298
Recognised during the year FINFER (1,041) (1,041)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=ZA=+—BKAE 41,216 42,257
2015 2014

—E-af%F —ZE—-mF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

As at 1 January ®—A—H 13,086 102,232
Additions NE 13,666 46,589
Transferred from property, plant and WE - BE REREEA (M 13)

equipment (note 13) - 19,845
Transferred to property, plant and EAME - BE &&E (MEE13)

equipment (note 13) (22,448) (155,580)
As at 31 December R+—_HA=+—8H 4,304 13,086
The assets transferred from property, plant and equipment to RZZE—MEERN - BEERDE  BEEREET
construction in progress during the year of 2014 were mainly for FREIEFZRAA/EENCGMPIEIER -

related GMP construction.
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2015 2014
—Z-1F —Z-|mE
Deferred Deferred
development development
costs Software Total costs Software Total
BRERBAE B By EERENA (e k]

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0 ~ RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Cost: B

As at 1 January ®—A—H 31,581 2,301 33,882 31,606 2,287 33,893
Additions NE 3,645 34 3,679 525 14 539
Disposals HE - (29) (23) = = =
Transferred to expenses BLER - - - (550) - (550)
As at 31 December R+=A=1+-8H 35,226 2,312 37,538 31,581 2,301 33,882

Accumulated amortisation Z5H#8 KR E :
and impairment:

As at 1 January Rn—A—H 16,442 1,626 18,068 15,734 1,401 17,135
Amortisation provided for FREH

the year 639 225 864 708 225 933

Disposals HE - (23) (23) - - -

As at 31 December R+t=B=+-H 17,081 1,828 18,909 16,442 1,626 18,068
Net book value: BREHE

As at 31 December N—A=+—-8 18,145 484 18,629 15,139 675 15,814

As at 1 January Rn—A—H 15,139 675 15,814 15,872 886 16,758

2015 2014

—F-5% —F—m&E

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

At cost or net realisable value: VARK AN sl ] B4 3R R EEHE -
Raw materials R 32,492 28,286
Work in progress RS 46,086 29,503
Finished goods 2URK T 69,169 29,792
147,747 87,581
As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of inventories RZE—RAF+ZA=1+—8  LARBEREEH
carried at fair value less costs to sell was RMB69,231,000 (2014: FERANTFEREBEAARKE9,231,000T(=ZF
RMB39,046,000). —P4  AR#E39,046,0007T) °
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2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBETIT

Trade receivables FEUE 5518 118,482 86,531
Impairment RE (437) (437)

118,045 86,094
Notes receivable [ ESE Q= 164,128 113,968

282,173 200,062
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, BRIEF —MEBRHFIEN  AEBREERERR
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally RNEEFPRS - MEBEFPEEH—RA=M@A -
required. The credit period is generally three months for major BUEPHREEERTE - AEBEREERHEKRE
customers. Each customer has a credit limit. The Group seeks to ERKFIE  WRAEEEEESIIEEEERR
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a DR EREE G E AR o BRI LA
credit control department to manage credit risk. Overdue balances LB AAEBERERE ZFHIBY RAETRETS
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the FHitirfEsEERHNEERRE - BIKE SRR
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables BAETHE ©

relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade and notes receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the MBREEE - RIS BERNERE 5B RS
reporting period, net of provisions, is as follows: M :
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBETIT

Trade receivables FEURE 5518
Outstanding balances with ages: 1ZEREREI D Y R R AR -
Within 90 days 90HA 99,219 62,080
Between 91 and 180 days 91 %180 H 12,019 13,667
Between 181 and 270 days 1812270 H 6,807 6,279
Between 271 and 360 days 2712360 H - 2,465
Over one year —F A E - 1,603

118,045 86,094
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The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

At 1 January Rn—A—H
Impairment losses reversed or written off BB s kIR EEE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H

The above provision for impairment of trade receivables is provided
for individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
carrying amount before provision of RMB437,000 (2014:
RMB437,000). The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers with financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered
to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired A8 HE K I 4 R B
Less than three months past due A AR S {E A
Over three months past due BEASE AN £

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Group are of
the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

FEW B 5 FIRH RERBEBINT

2015 2014
—ZE-hF —EF-NNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T ARET T
437 879

- (442)

437 437

FiERE SFIENRERE R ENNRE
BEARBKAZ700T(ZTE—MWFE: AR
437,0007) B E B B R EE W E 5 FRIBRTHE ° %
ZEFERERKE HHIAEBATBERE Y
BEARM - AEBWERZEEHMIFE TMEKE
BRI E AL S E NGE A B o

RRAERERN Y E B FORRE DT

2015 2014
—E-5% —T—m&E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTT
108,936 62,080
5,454 13,667
3,655 10,347
118,045 86,094

IR 780 5 I b 8 Rk 1B Y B W SRR D B K 80 HA O R
BHEBESNZREPAR -

BEEYERENEYRAENES ZERKE S
FRIFEECENBYZFPERH - ERNELR
AEBEER/BARZSERIELRERE
REEEXRIELRNEANEE - A BERTKR
AR 2HHE - REEIWEZ AR R TR
EH S RV E & InoafE it o
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FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT ARE NOT DERECOGNISED
IN THEIR ENTIRETY

At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed Notes”)
with a carrying amount of RMB19,117,000 to certain of its suppliers
in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the
“Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has
retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default
risks relating to such Endorsed Notes, and accordingly, it continued
to recognise the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Notes and
the associated trade payables settled. Subsequent to the
Endorsement, the Group does not retain any rights on the use of
the Endorsed Notes, including sale, transfer or pledge of the
Endorsed Notes to any other third parties. The aggregate carrying
amounts of the trade payables and other payables settled by the
Endorsed Notes during the year to which the suppliers have
recourse were RMB16,963,000 and RMB2,154,000 as at 31
December 2015, respectively.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT ARE DERECOGNISED IN
THEIR ENTIRETY

At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised
Notes”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade
payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate
of RMB33,865,000. The Derecognised Notes have a maturity of
one to six months at the end of the reporting period. In accordance
with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of
the Derecognised Notes have a right of recourse against the Group
if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Notes.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Notes and the associated trade payables. The
maximum exposures to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Notes and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Notes are equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Notes are
not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss on
the date of transfer of the Derecognised Notes. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during the
year or cumulatively. The Endorsement has been made evenly
throughout the year.

REBRILERA MK EE
RZFE—RAF+ZA=+—H  RPBEMNRITER
AEBMEERTEAEARK19,117,000 7T 2 B
ﬂfﬁ((%%?ﬁﬂ)%ﬁ%ﬂ JER - A fHEER
ZEREBIENESR(EED - EFREAE &
SEEE LHRER &@ﬁ EFREREEE
ZRZEHNRR At AEBEFEERSERE
ZEREEABERENIERENESR - BEE - &K
SEWRRBEAERAESRR 2EMEN - 825
HE SR ERSEZRRTEMEME=F - F
N BREEERINcHEREEREZENE
FRREMENFER T —RAF+A=+—
Az @EEED R A AR 16,963,000 T A K
#2 154,000 7T °

IR CHBEE

RZFE—RAF+-A=+—08 RPBENRITER
AEEEEETZREER(RIEEREER]D T
HETHER  UXHEXZEHRERNENEZES
o BREEA T AR 33,865,0007T © KR IEHER
ZERBEHRZIPENTR—2EA - B
B AT EEE IR - MERTTIEAY - AR IEFERE
BrEEAEHASEAGRBRR((HERES
H]) - EEZRAE ALEDEE FEEHEK ER

ZEREECMERBRER - Bt - NEEELRIE
BREE 2 ZHRABEUREEENE SR - KA
REERKIERAZRETREEESH2EER
KRB A K BB B 4% | ERER IR 2 R BE IR IR & 7% £

HERAEER - EER5  AEERKRIEEREE
PHEEEEHZARBETK

RER  AEBREERL L ERARERE AW EER
EiEsE - RFEARBERTF FERSEHLE
HRER - REFHIELBE -



19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Notes to Financial Statements
R 35 R | P 5E

31 December 2015 R—ZE—R&E+_-_A=+—H1

19. AN RERHMEWE

2015 2014

—E-hF —E—OF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Prepayments SEUNE=N 7,052 11,258
Deposits and other receivables e MhHAEUEIE 6,778 6,547
13,830 17,805

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables

for which there was no recent history of default.

20. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

EEERABPRIL ERE - LilEREIE 28
BEERIPNYEENELHEKFIRERE -

20. EEBEHZUAAREBIIRZKERSE

2015 2014

—g-Hf —T-m4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREEFIT

Listed equity investments, at market value FIRAERE - ETE 3,683 5,440

The above equity investments at 31 December 2015 and 2014
were classified as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition,
designated by the Group as equity investments at fair value through

profit or loss.

R-FB-—AFR_F-OF+_HA=1+—H8  Lit
BEKEDBRURZRBENMBENRE - £1)
MR R AREEERBERBREARAEIIR
HIHEIRE -
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2015 2014
—E-AF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
Cash and bank balances Re LBTER 64,632 250,963
Short-term deposits RETER 621,158 428,084
685,790 679,047

Less: Bank deposit pledged for bank loans W BIRTERMBEE ZRITHER
(note 24) (HftsE24) - (185,983)

Term deposit with maturity over three FHAREBEA=E AN ESRTER

months (122,500) -

Bank deposit pledged for foreign RONERBIEHME BT ZRIT
currency forward exchange TR - (49,648)
Bank deposit pledged for letters of credit BiEREMEER 2 IRITER (10) (50)
(122,510) (235,681)
Cash and cash equivalents BENMBSEED 563,280 443,366

As at 31 December 2015, the cash and bank balances and short-
term deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB442,055,000 (2014: RMB407,190,000) in Mainland China.
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks (including the pledged bank deposits and term
deposit with maturity over three months) earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and
cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

RZE—RF+_A=+—8  XEERPBEKE
BREAARENBESRETEAFTEEHERE
B AR442,055000c( ZF —MF: AR
407,190,0007T) ° ARM I T B M X AHM
B R 0 ARIR P BKRESNE B B E AR R AERE -
BEAMNEBTRER  AEBBESEBRETETIN
EEBHRITHEARBLBRAEME -

RITFR(BREERRITERRIBABE=(E
H ) E #1750 89 ) B4R IR S BATF RRE ) R BRER o
RAERERPRAF-AE=Z@ALTE  RFAR
SERIRSFRME - WLAAEER K BT BA7F KA
KRN L o |RITABREFALHRETRIER -
EERENRITH - BENRSFEYNREER
EHRTE »



An aging analysis of the trade payables and notes payable as at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

Outstanding balances with ages:

Within 90 days

Between 91 and 180 days
Between 181 and 270 days
Between 271 and 360 days
Over one year

AR B D B 1) R EREE -

90 HA

91 £180H
181 £ 270 H
2712360 H
—FUE

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on 90-day terms. The carrying amounts of the trade and
notes payables approximate to their fair values. The aggregate
carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the Endorsed
Notes during the year to which the suppliers have recourse was
RMB16,963,000 as at 31 December 2015 (note 18).

Advances from customers
Accruals

Taxes other than corporate income tax
Payable for purchases of machinery and

construction of buildings
Other payables

FAUERR
IR E A
BRbZEFTS TSN IR

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

RBEHRNENE S RENRIEHRBRE DT

o -

2015
—E-FHEF
RMB’000
ARET R

101,515
39,290
389

43
1,891

143,128

2014
—EF-NNF
RMB’000
AREFIT

81,854
23,395
380
252
1,504

107,385

R E SHEDTHE R —IENL+ BRERE
Bt ENESRERFEZERAEHEEQAAER
o BREEERINCHENEEREEMNE
SRZEERHERN-_ZE—hFE+t-_A=1+—08%

AR#16,963,000 7T (f3F18) °

B 2s MAEF R EEM K

H At FEA 3R

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average
settlement term of six months. The carrying amounts of the other
payables and accruals approximate to their fair values. The
aggregate carrying amount of the other payables settled by the
Endorsed Notes during the year to which the suppliers have
recourse was RMB2,154,000 as at 31 December 2015 (note 18).

2015 2014
—E—-HF —E—-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
15,310 12,283
34,317 20,693
12,204 6,951
10,372 38,720
42,197 21,162
114,400 99,809

HiEARIDTAFERFEHNERLEER - it
BNREERERAZRAESEEQAAERS - BB
EEERINEEEARREZEMERNTZ
BEMER_ZE—AFT_A=+t—HAARK
2,154,000 7T (ff{7£18) °
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Current 5ZHA

Bank loan — secured BIRFRITER
Current 55 HA

Bank loan — secured BIRFRRITER
Bank loan — secured EEBHOIRITER

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or on demand

Effective interest
rate (%)
BB FI=E (%)

HIBOR*+1.50%

Effective interest
rate (%)

BEFRFIZ (%)

HIBOR*+1.50%
HIBOR*+0.90%
toZ 1.00%

\ﬁ:
RITERAPER
PR —EFHIRF R

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had aggregate bank facilities
of approximately RMB763,035,000 (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB844,790,000), of which bank facilities of HK$18,000,000 (as
at 31 December 2014: HK$106,750,000) were secured by
corporate guarantees of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate

(@) The bank loan is secured by the mortgage of the Group’s leasehold land and
building in Hong Kong with a net carrying amount of approximately

RMB29,821,000 (2014: RMB28,732,000) (note 13).

(b) The bank loans are secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s pledged

bank deposits amounting to RMB185,983,000 (note 21).

2015
—E-RE
Maturity Original Equivalent
2H A R HER
HK$’000 RMB’000
BT T AR®T
2016 10,563@ 8,847
2014
—ETF
Maturity Original Equivalent
ZI89H R BER
HK$’000 RMB’000
BT AREFT
2015 12,1150 9,712
2015
222,750 178,556
234,865 188,268
2015 2014
—E-1F —P4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T ARETIT
8,847 188,268
R-ZF-HFt-A=+—8 FEEHRTEE

B AR 763,035,000 C(R - T —ME+—
B=+—8: AR#844,790,00070) © ER &
18,000,000 C(R—ZE—MWE+-_A=+—H : &
# 106,750,000 7 ) $RITIE EEEE AR R A Sk =
BARWEARER °

BRRITRERE °
(a) ZERITERAREBARIFENI AR 29,821,0007T
NWEBHELHREFEAER(ZCT-—TF: AR¥

28,732,0007T) (FizE13) °

(b) ZERTEAHAEBEHEFARTEREARE
185,983,000 7t (P 7k 21) HIFHEAR -



At 1 January m—HA—H
Received during the year FNES AR AT K
Released to the statement of profit or loss FFABmE

At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
are as follows:

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBETIT

3,475 3,884
- 900
(792) (1,309)
2,683 3,475

FRARERBREERBBEZESHOT

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS EEBIBEEE
Provision
B
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2014 RZZT—mME—HA—H 2,843
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of FRRGEBRERER ZELFIE (K7 10)
profit or loss during the year (note 10) 3,280
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZZE—WMF+_A=+—HK
—E—hF—H—H 6,123
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of FRARGEEERIER ZIELERE (M:E10)
profit or loss during the year (note 10) 3,008
Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2015 RZE—RAF+_RA=T—HZEEHEEE 9,131

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB41,302,000 (2014: RMB37,115,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits for which no
deferred tax assets have been recognised, as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is
uncertain that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

N5 B AR B K BEERAS T TR S 18 A R 15 41,302,000
TT(ZZF—MNF : AR 37,115,00070) © A] A {E
BN —ERAFREI B R R ERT S - B13Z
EEBHENEEHIEEENARER  AELBRR
EAEEEE —BRERNNEBEAR  THTESE
ERERBRF AT ARIEHEZERIBIARK -
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

26. EEHIEA(E)

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES EEMIEAE
RMB’000
ARETTT
At 1 January 2014 RZZT—ME—HF—H 29,176
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated statement FARGEEBRRINGBZ
of profit or loss during the year (note 10) RIERE (FIFE10) 5,834
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZE—NF+_/A=+—HBRK
—FT—H%—H—H 35,010
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated statement of FARGREBmRk 2
profit or loss during the year (note 10) IEFERIE (FsE10) 7,742
At 31 December 2015 RZE—AF+=-A=+—H 42,752
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B&
SHARES [iigvi)
2015 2014
—EB-afF —ZE-mF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BET T BT
Authorised: SETE ¢
10,000,000,000 (2014: 10,000,000,000) SRR EERE 0.1 TR TR
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 10,000,000,000 f% (=& —PU4F :
10,000,000,000 fi% ) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
804,848,000 (2014: 806,620,000) SRREESE 0.1 TH @R
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 804,848,000 & (= Z — U4 :
806,620,000 %) 80,485 80,662
Equivalent to RMB’000 ZEARET T 85,206 85,348
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SHARES (Cont’d)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as
follows:

Number of

shares in issue

ERITRAEE
At 1 January 2014 R_ZE—MF

—HA—H 801,884,000

Share options exercised [REREE:o)idi g 4,736,000
At 31 December 2014 and R —ZE—P4F

1 January 2015 +ZA=+—AK

—T-hF

—H—H 806,620,000

Shares repurchased (" BEEENKRGS (3,852,000)

Share options exercised @ B 1713 # B AR #E 2,080,000
At 31 December 2015 NZE—h4F

+=—A=+—~H 804,848,000

(1) The Company repurchased 3,852,000 of its shares on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange for a total consideration of HK$19,650,840 before expenses. The
repurchased shares were cancelled during the year. The nominal value of the
cancelled shares of HK$385,000 were transferred to the capital redemption
reserve and the premium on repurchase and the related costs incurred for
share repurchase of HK$19,344,000 was charged against the share premium
account of the Company.

) During the year, 2,080,000 share options under the Company’s share option
scheme were exercised. Accordingly, 2,080,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each were issued as a result of the exercise of share options.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in note
28 to the financial statements.

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

B (&)

ARARANEDEAMT -

Share premium

Issued capital account Total
2EITRAE 13 E W
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT T
80,188 68,063 148,251

474 16,153 16,627

80,662 84,216 164,878
(385) (19,344) (19,729)

208 10,352 10,560

80,485 75,224 155,709

(1) ANA R FEHE X FTAE (21 3,852,000 iR AR A A E B % + K&t
B A2 ARERB19,650,840 7T © BEE WAL M EFE R
$H o BT IHRMD EEAES 2 BEEE 5 385,000 T E BEE
REEE S MRG BB R AT 2% B R & A LB
19,344,000 LB sE ARQ B Z B % B8R ©

© F R - 2,080,000 RIBEAR R EERERT S 2 BIREE &
171 - Bt - 2,080,000 K SRR EEAE 01 T2 TBRE
HZ SRR TEmET -

BEAARBRIEEZFERNS
RBIEE28 o

RV R
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The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2003 (the “2003
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible persons (including the Company’s directors,
independent non-executive directors, employees of the Group and
other eligible participants as defined under the 2003 Share Option
Scheme) who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
The 2003 Share Option Scheme became effective on 21 June
2003 and remained in force for 10 years from that date until 20
June 2013.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible person in the 2003 Share Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

A new share option scheme, which was approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting on 24 May 2013,
became effective on 21 June 2013 (the “2013 Share Option
Scheme”, together with the 2003 Share Option Scheme, the
“Scheme”) and will remain in force for 10 years until 20 June 2023.
The principal terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme are similar to
the 2003 Share Option Scheme.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance
in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$10 by each grantee with no other
consideration being payable by the grantee. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time
during a period commencing on such date on or after the date on
which the option is granted as the Board may determine in granting
the option and expiring at the close of business on such date as
the Board may determine in granting the option but in any event
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

ARAR_ZZ=FRANBREFE( T
ZBERESE))  EERBAEEEBAMIELE
BHABERAL(BREARBES  BUFNTE
= AEEETINMR _ZE=BREIRENHE
AER2EE) RESBLER —FTT=BK
BAENR _EE=F A+ - BERINZA
BT FANRERERE_TS—=FA=+H-

EEM1I2EARRART ST =BREEN
BUAERSEENBRENT TETESKN
#E UARBMNMEAERENEZETRNDI%S
R LE—FREBRLRENBLRE  BERR
RE LRRRAAE -

BRI (R —ZE—=FRA - +tHBEKRFRE
FRG FEREHAE)NR=2-—=FA=+—H
RER(T T —=BRE:E] BTk
B [t 8 ) Y RE T FARE—F =
FARAZTH T —BREAE 2 T2 FERAE
TR =BT BIEEE -

BRYARBES - BHENERRRIE SR
TTREREAE RSB IFAITE R o 1t
REM 128 A B T AR R T ERER LB L
FERMITE F R IR SR 77 00 () B A d iR i
ARAREMERNEHTRNMN0.1% - LHR
BRENREREARBRNOVBRER LB
BB T E ) 885,000,000 7T+ AIZEEEER
RAE ERGRERALE -

RYBRENZERNER R HE21 B R
B AR AR REBIRER BRI EMAE - A
10BN EBARE - ABFEER LB
BZBEXEEMEENAHEEEESEREE
P v B 7B TE 0 ) B O 8 SR B ] A5 SR B LE - AT BERS
(BEmMA TN SBEHE L A BEST - F)REZ
A BRI TR R A AE



The exercise price of share options is determined by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; and (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer, provided that the exercise price shall
not be less than the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the
Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

BRENTEEHESETE @ ETSERATRE
HBREE () ARTRNREHBREE BERR
FRETER AU T(E R (i) A AR BN EEIR A
HART A B2 5 B B X PR A i) P9 T B - HETT
BETFIRADREBRAEE -

BEREYEBRTHAEAIZEAREINKRAS
ERZRRER -

AT ez et IR F AARTT A BB A -

2015 2014
—E-HF —T—F

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

InEEF9 ke

THEE BREHAE 1THEE BAES B

HK$ ’000 HK$ '000

BT BIT

per share per share

Sk Sk
At 1 January n—A—H 5.365 12,704 2.855 10,900
Granted during the year FRBEFD 6.078 16,400 6.490 8,700
Exercised during the year FANBITE 3.784 (2,080) 2.675 (4,736)
Lapsed during the year FRE KRR 6.148 (7,860) 3.130 (2,160)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 5.826 19,164 5.365 12,704

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share
options exercised during the year was HK$6.8332 (2014:
HK$5.7548).

EFRRERETFEENMNEFTHREEEE
6.8332 L (= — U : FH575487T) ©
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The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RBREHR - RITERERETHEE R TR
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™
2015
—E—-hEF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE THE" TEHE
’000 HK$
BT
per share
=1
1,764 3.130 25-03-2012 to & 24-03-2017
1,000 6.440 17-09-2015 to £ 16-09-2020
6,000 5.150 08-01-2016 to £ 07-01-2021
3,000 5.270 18-03-2016 to £ 17-03-2021
6,000 7.340 16-04-2016 to & 15-04-2021
1,400 6.380 23-11-2016 to £ 22-11-2021
19,164
2014
—T—mE
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
ERES B THREEr IEHAME
‘000 HK$
HBIT
per share
Bk
3,204 3.130 25-03-2012 to & 24-03-2017
800 2.080 28-03-2014 to £ 27-03-2019
2,000 5.760 15-01-2015 to & 14-01-2020
1,000 5.720 12-06-2015 to & 11-06-2020
3,000 6.440 17-09-2015 to & 16-09-2020
2,700 7.370 25-09-2015 to & 24-09-2024
12,704
The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * fisi #E 7T 4L AR Bk B AT AT AR Bk 7N 55 [ AR N (3R LAt KB DL
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Group’s share capital. BB TTRREA T IARE -
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The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was estimated
as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. This value is inherently subjective and
uncertain due to the assumptions made and the limitation of the
valuation model used. The following table lists the inputs to the
model:

Date of grant RE B 25/3/2011  17/9/2014
Dividend yield (%) R B2 (%) 1.97 0.97
Expected volatility (%) FEHDR 18 (%) 40 42
Historical volatility (%) B E (%) 40 42
Risk-free interest rate (%) @R ITIR R (%) 1.970 1.584
Expected life of option (year) BT (F) 6 6
Fair value at the date of RELBEHARE

grant (HK$) () 0.98 2.45

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over
the past five years and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The 2,080,000 share options exercised during the year resulted in
the issue of 2,080,000 ordinary shares of the Company and new
share capital of HK$208,000 and share premium of HK$7,662,720
as further detailed in note 27 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had 19,164,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme, which represented
approximately 2.38% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that
date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 19,164,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company,
additional share capital of HK$1,916,400 and share premium of
HK$109,733,060 (before share issue expenses).

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

BETUBRAGENBRENRTEDNE TR
BERURAIR — SFRHAEEA LG XEe®E
B T REBHE A0 6K S MR © S0 B RATRAR R P2
RW{ERAFERS  AREELSSEEBXS
RAHEERZE - TRIEZRANBARE :

8/1/2015  18/3/2015  16/4/2015 23/11/2015
1.21 118 0.85 1.04

43 43 43 43

43 43 43 43

1.365 1.290 1,065 1.183

6 6 6 6

1.92 1.97 2.82 242

BREEAFHIRBAEAFNELENETE
RUBERRTEBREN R - BEIKIRRRBE
IR BRARBEHRR - ERRBERLEE
PRAEER -

5 2 3 T R ARE Y B RS A AR ER AT H B
/o

FA - 1T R 2,080,000 15 & A% #E S| BUAR A BRI AT
2,080,000 % & 3@ A% 15 - 3 hn ¥ A% 28 208,000 7% 7T
NS AD 4518 7,662,720 8 7T » sEIB A B 75 3Rk
I

R_ZF—RAF+=-A=+—8  AAAIREZTE
WA 19,164,0000 B IR BE ) R EFTE - HERE

AARDRBEEITIRNA2.38% ° RIEARRRER
BARGEE  BEITE AR T BIRESS| BN A R BT
19,164,000 IR §E /1N & 3@ AR - #5510 1,916,400 74 7T HY
P& 75 DA K2 B A7 33 (B 109,733,060 78 7T (R & A% 17 2%
TRI%) °
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The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 49 to 50 of the financial
statements.

(i)

(ii)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the then consolidated net assets of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation
as set out in note 1, and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor.

Statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”)

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of the Mainland China Subsidiaries,
each of the Mainland China Subsidiaries is required to
allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the PRC generally accepted accounting
principles, to the SSR until this reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital. Part of the SSR may be converted to
increase the paid-up capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

AEERBRAFERBEFENSBEREHE
HNI BRI FEIOA Z0ENERE R EBRNA -

(i

(i)

BABER

AEBENBABRBRIEREM T 1 ASROEE
BHEMPBHBARERNGS EEFER
AR RMBBAEEMZTHARR R RN
E{EHZHE °

EEBBRAEE

BREFEARDERTENBARNARE
B hEHERRE B ARTEAREE
Al - B ETIZHEFE10% 5 B EETE BB
BE HEZETEHLABSEINHIMER
B150% ° BEE BB ATES T E R ER
ARUAB IR - HEE AR AR T AHER
AEE A 25% e

BE 5 OR B A
PE R B i T R ERC S B SN B B B A 7]
O BA TG SRR FTEE AE O FE 3 258



Financial assets 2015
MBEE —E-1E
Equity
investments
at fair value
through Loans and
profit or loss receivables
EBERN
NAESIRZ EXRER

kRERE BUHE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR  ARETR

Trade and notes receivables EWE 5 REEFE - 282173
Financial assets included in SABMR  BEREM
prepayments, deposits and other  fEUE: 7 IS B E
receivables - 6,778
Equity investments at fair value B BRBHEUAAEIIEZ
through profit or loss RiERE 3,683 -
Cash and bank Re RBITEH - 685,790
3,683 074,741

Financial liabilities

MKkaE

Trade and notes payables B E 5 MEBRIE

Financial liabilities included in other payables 5+ A E {th &~ 5k R FE IR & A
and accruals 2 asE

Interest-bearing bank loans FHERITER

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

2014
—ZT-mE

Equity

investments

at fair value

through Loans and

Total profit or loss receivables Total

FRERMN

AR(EFIRL BEAR

a5 RigR & G ok
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AREFTL ARBFT AREFTL
282,173 - 200,062 200,062
6,778 - 6,547 6,547
3,683 5,440 - 5,440
685,790 - 679,047 679,047
978,424 5,440 885,656 891,006
2015 2014
—F-I1% —F-MF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
2 18 85 ;R AR big £ DN
FAEZEMBEE AECHMBAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFIT
143,128 107,385
64,773 66,833
8,847 188,268
216,748 362,486
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The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRIAXREE ST ANAA BT EER
of the Group’s financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2015: REZFE-—AF+ZA=+—HEANEFTENE
E
Fair value measurement using
EANTRBEETAAENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
IR EART EXFH
TENRE BREBAE BREBAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
B B BZR &&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®T R AR%T R AR%T R

Equity investments at fair value BRBRAANLEYIER

through profit or loss 2RISR A 3,683 - - 3,683
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were no transfers BHE_ZT-—hF+_A=+—HILFE  F—HH
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no FoRAWEAAEEER - TEEBEALBHE
transfers into or out of Level 3. = o
The carrying amounts of cash and bank, trade and notes We RIFITER  BUBRRLERER - EBAERK
receivables, trade and notes payables, financial assets included in NEMER - GTATERR - e REAmERG B
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities BEE st AEtEMNZREERERZGHAE
included in other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank ARERBIRITERMERBEREAABEES °

loans approximate to their fair values.
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The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of
changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s
operating activities (when revenue or expenses are denominated in
a different currency from the Group’s functional currency) and the
Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries.

Currently, the PRC government imposes control over foreign
currencies. RMB, the official currency in the PRC, is not freely
convertible. Enterprises operating in Mainland China can enter into
exchange transactions through the People’s Bank of China or other
authorised financial institutions. Payments for imported materials or
services and remittance of earnings outside of Mainland China are
subject to the availability of foreign currencies which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the enterprises, or
must be arranged through the People’s Bank of China or other
authorised financial institutions. Approval for exchanges at the
People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions is
granted to enterprises in the PRC for valid reasons such as
purchases of imported materials and remittance of earnings. While
conversion of RMB to the Hong Kong dollar or other foreign
currencies can generally be effected at the People’s Bank of China
or other authorised financial institutions, there is no guarantee that
it can be effected at all times.

The Group does not have any significant investment outside of
Mainland China. However, the Group has transactional currency
exposures. These exposures arise from sales of the Group’s
subsidiaries denominated in currencies other than the subsidiaries’
functional currencies. Approximately 12.58% of the Group’s sales
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 11.63%) were
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of
the subsidiaries. Upon receipt of currencies other than the
functional currency, the subsidiaries sell them to the banks
immediately.

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

AEERARKWEZHTERENESRBFHM
BEMBEENAG  WIHIHRHEKEERKES -

AEBEBMTEAMPENEZRBRAINERR - 15
BRBAASHECRR - U TNAEESRALRE
ERELMBHERRANBERZHE

SMNE =L B

%Eﬂ A EMTANARBIRRRSRER
PERBE)EL KB R o NEEAERERE

EH&E%EKE@%%HW& 53 S ATRIR

AEENEEENERIE) RASERINEE KB

RAMFRERR

BAT - PEBUHDERINEES - PEESEEA
REATT B BT - RABEARELE 2 CEMEB
FRARRITREMBACHEBELEINERS -
SATEO R SRS 2 BB RS EFELHBEAX
PESF MR I SNE (R BRRER ] - IRFE DA
SNEFHE 2 B - JMABE BT EARRITREAM
RS HEBIEL R - RPRREZEEEATR
DIET - MFBEQRBLELBA - AR
HAERPEARRITHREMBASREEETS
Mo ﬁ%AE%%@%ﬁYE@%M—&TE¢H
Aﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ@uT%ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ BEARE
RIS I BEAETT ©

AN B A R B K B LA SN AT R EKIRE © ST
AEBDALHR HEEER - B EREKRKAEUARSE
R EAERB AR AENEEEE N E
EIZHE BE-_Z—AFT+_A=1+—HLF
B AREBEN128% 2 HE(ZF — M F:
11.63%) Jh AR S B Ay Bl K BE M B A R M I aE &
BELAONZ BB EHE - RIREITHAEE BB LASN 2 BB
% $%lm¢ﬁﬁﬁW§ RIS R
ETFRITUR BB E
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Cont’d)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in foreign currency exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

2015 —E—RE

If RMB strengthens against the W ARELETHE
United States dollar

If RMB weakens against the M AR BT E

United States dollar

If RMB strengthens against Euro i AR BT HHE

If RMB weakens against Euro i A RE LT (E

2014 —E—-mE

If RMB strengthens against the M ARERETHE
United States dollar

If RMB weakens against the M ARELETRE

United States dollar

If RMB strengthens against Euro i AR BT HE
If RMB weakens against Euro M AR R BT @A
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivables and balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of
the Group, which comprise cash and short-term deposits, other
receivables and equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

SNERE ()

TRIIRERA AR ERRH TR ERT -
7490 T 5 4 0 US4 51 5 S L4407 T
BB (MR EEEERA BN AL ESD) -

Change in Increase/
foreign currency (decrease) in
rate profit before tax
HERBADEF Z

INEERBE 2, O8d)
RMB’000

ARETT
+5% (6,461)

-5% 6,461

+5% -

—5% -
+5% (5,580)

5% 5,580
+5% (16)

5% 16

EERR
AEBEEZSEENENE=HETRS - R
AEBNEE  TARIZEERETRZNER
VERBEEZERFE  TREE - I KK
EEREEREBEFRLEHNER - MAKER
ERERIT TEK o

HREMARBEEMMBEENERERR  HhEiE
R MERER  EMOEUGKRIRLEBBREARR
B BRIERE  AEBREYTTEOMELNE
ERER - ERESNZEFTANKEE



CREDIT RISK (Cont’d)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 18 to

the financial statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables)

and projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, was as follows:

Interest-bearing bank loans £t ER1TER

Trade and notes payables ENE S RERTIE
Other payables HAERR

Interest-bearing bank loans 5t 28R/17E
Trade and notes payables [ENE S NEEE
Other payables HibERR

On demand

BREX
RMB’000
ARBTR

12,552
64,773

77,325

On demand

REX
RMB'000
ARBTL

14,112
66,833

80,945

Less than
3 months

PREMEA
RMB’000
AR¥TR

74,510

74,510

Less than
3 months

SR=MEA
RMB'000
ARBTT

81,853

81,853

31 December 2015 A =& —

fERER (47)

H AN S B {2 B 5% %E%

EHRTR S - T
%ﬁ/&%%?%ﬁ
EhEERR -

ZE
&

AFE+—A=+t—H

BREENENE=
A - KR EERRSH
UL NS B R E R AE (A B2 K

FRASBEEREEZRIMELEERRNE
—TEEEMTIWBENPBRKRM L8 -

REE SR

AEBZBRAKEURDESTI TR BEEE
BEEROER - W TASEERESR T ARG

BE(MEKE SRS
BEBRHRSRE -

RBERRARERES HRBB K

BEEZEHBAMMT

2015
—E-1F
3 to less than
12 months 1 to 5years
/J\BA
t=@A  -zi%

RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR

8,847 -
56,066 -

64,913 -

2014
—T—EF
3 toless than

12months  1to 5 years
=EPR
+=1@A —ZAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
188,268 =
11,420 =
199,688 =

Over 5 years

REME
RMB’000
ARBTR

Over 5 years

RERE
RMB'000
ARETT

SOV EI B B AR R B #R A

SHE®E

Total

st
RMB’000
ARBTR

8,847
143,128
64,773

216,748

Total

it
RMB'000
ARBFT

188,268
107,385
66,833

362,486
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2015 and
31 December 2014.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital plus net debt. The net debt includes
trade and notes payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank loans, less cash and bank. Capital represents equity
attributable to the owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Trade and notes payables
Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank loans
Less: Cash and bank

AHRRITER

Net debt FARE

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

BEARZFAE
BEARRELR

Capital and net debt

Gearing ratio

e E 5 M RIEFIR
Hib AR TAIRE A

o BEe RIRITER

[SYNCIE? ZE PNy

EXREHE
AEEEREANEERRRABAKENRE
REENRERRENEARL R ASURERB#
REIRFBIREE -

AEESRELERESECEEELEANRBALYS
HELHE - BEFRPBERNER  FEERE
B SN TR B  RIEEA TR S
TR - RNBE-_T—HAF+_A=T—HBEZ
E-NEF-_A=+—HILFEA FHELER
MER  REMBRYEELEMEE -

AEBRAEAABLEREREBEABR > MER
BELXRTVFEERABERINE & EZ BT
H-FREERENEZREENIER  HMEN
R RIBEEM  FEERITEN - LHIRRES RRTT
TR - EXABEEAREA ARG - RBREH
RZERBEBHLERMT

2015 2014
—E—-RF —E O
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AREEFIT
143,128 107,385
114,400 99,809
8,847 188,268
(685,790) (679,047)
(419,415) (283,585)
1,473,876 1,248,280
1,054,461 964,695
(40)% (29)%



(@) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total future minimum
lease rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases

31 December 2015 R =F—AF+=-A=+—H

(a) KEHERE
AEERBLEAERHAMAETHRY
X - MEHENBERRN T —E20F 2R -

RZB—RE+-_A=1+—08  KEERK
NERE A AR S T AR B 1B R K et

falling due as follows:

Within one year
After one year but within five years

(b) CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Contracted, but not provided for:
Plant and machinery

—E7
—ERETSRAF

BRI - BRVERE -

5 B ae

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

o RRREMEN

Employee share option benefits BT ERERT
Pension scheme contributions RIS E B
Total compensation paid to TEEEAEMERE

key management personnel

Further details of the directors’ and the chief executive officer’s
emoluments are included in note 7 to the financial statements.

REHEFELHEMAT

2015 2014
—ZE-hfF —E-OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
1,041 515
1,366 68
2,407 583
(b) EXAEE

2015 2014
= —T-MmF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREFIT
7,776 5,901

REBMEEEEAEME
2015 2014
—E—-HF —EF-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFIT
3,836 3,625
- 2,345
58 68
3,894 6,038

EERBENEFBEHNP I RAMET -
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Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Equity investments at fair value through

profit or loss
Cash and bank

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity

128

FRBEE
iN{I=PNCIL:OE: Fa

FEMBEEME

RBEE

BN - e R EMER IR
BRBRARAEINRZ BERE
B MRITER

MENVEEMER

RBEE
BN R EERER

mBRERR
BRBEE
EERBRABAE

FEE

R

BAREE AEEER
BTG

&

BB

2015
—E—-hEF
RMB’000
AR® TR

308,500

308,500

241

3,683
6,467

10,391

408
408

9,983

318,483

318,483

85,206
233,277

318,483

RBEHRARBOPBIRARERAT

2014
—EF-NF
RMB’000
ARET T

296,768

296,768

206

5,440
2,863

8,509

600
600

7,909

304,677

304,677

85,348
219,329

304,677



35.

36.

Notes to Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Cont’d)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

A %5 R R P o

31 December 2015 R—ZE—FE+—-HA=+—A1

35. ARDQRBEMRRE(E)

Bt

ARRZFHEERENT

Share Share Capital Exchange
premium Contributed option redemption fluctuation Retained  Proposed final
account surplus reserve reserve reserve profits dividend Total
BAEE 084 BRERE HGABERE EXREBRE REEN  HERERS a8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFTL ARETT AREFT AREFTL
At 1 January 2014 R=E-NmE-A-H 71,245 100,175 6,713 2,715 (87,942) 62,639 43,365 198,910
Proft for the year KEEHF - - - - - 60,587 - 60,587
Other comprehensive income for the year:  REEE 2 EIE :

Exchange differences EREE - - - - 6,614 - - 6,614
Total comprehensive income for the year KEERANGLE - - - - 6,614 60,587 - 67,201
Exercise of share options TEBERE 12,805 - (3,141) - - - - 9,664
Final 2013 dividend declared ER-F—=FRHRE = = = = = = (43,365) (43,365)
Dividend on shares issued for employes share —E—=%+= A=+—R %774

options exercised after 31 December 2013 EEBRERETRBURE = = = = = () = )
Equity-settled share option amangements LA (e R - - 2,968 - - - = 2,968
Interim 2014 dividend ZE-MERHRE - - - - - (16,002) = (16,002)
Proposed final 2014 dividend RE-S-WERBRE = - - - - (54,697) 54,607 -
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015~ W=E-ME+-A=+-AR

“3-1%-3-f 84,050 100,175 6540 2715 181.328) 52480 54,607 219329
Proft for the year REFHF - - - - - 78,718 - 78,718
Other comprehensive income for the year:  REEE 2 EIRE :

Exchange differences EREE - - - - 10,347 - - 10,347
Total comprehensive income for the year KEERANELE - - - - 10,347 78718 - 89,065
Exercise of share options TEBERE 8,354 - 2,172 - - - - 6,182
Final 2014 dividend declared SR-Z-MERHRS = = = = = = (54,697) (64,697)
Dividend on shares issued for employes share ~E—M4%E+= A=+—RB &4

options exercised after 31 December 2014 EEBRERETRHHRE = = = = = (49) = (49)
Share repurchased BEENRH (15,543) - - 310 - (310) - (15,543)
Equity-settled share option amangements  LARIES [ BB o - - 8,966 - - - = 8,966
Interim 2015 dividend “E-REPERE - = = = = (19,980) - (19,980)
At 31 December 2015 W-Z-REt+-A=1+-A 76,861 100,175 13,334 3025 (70,981) 110863 - 233,077
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the then ARA AN B B NP 5 20() FT i R R IR = B S AR AT BB I B 2
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group AERNGAEEFEBRAAARARIMEBEEMBRITHNAR
Reorganisation referred to in note 29(i), over the nominal value of the Company’s RIRMHEERIFS
shares issued in exchange therefor.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are BRERELEEREAMRITEBRENARE  HE—FE
yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based RN SRR 2.4 RO I RBOGEBRAN - EHFARE
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred RAEREITRAE - HEESEEEBTRAREROGER - &
to the issued capital account and the share premium account when the related options A RBRER A EUER - HERERBERTRF -

are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or

be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 36. BIFEImRFTAVHLE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue PBERERERZT—"F-A+tAEESTSH
by the board of directors on 17 March 2016. HE R AT -
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for A NAAEERBERFTRFEE 2 E4E EENEE
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited — #52 - T3k E B AR EZIHBIRE -
financial statements, is set out below.

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=1t—BLEE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—B-HF —T-WF —T-=F ZT-F T —F
RESULTS £ RMB’000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

Revenue WA 985,000 783,803 914,973 856,539 1,081,044
Cost of sales SHE KA (415,612) (323,884) (511,725) (532,144) (718,292
Gross profit EF 569,388 459,919 403,248 324,395 362,752
Other income and gains E YA K Wz 31,481 18,728 17,197 14,374 16,601
Selling and distribution expenses  $5& kD #E A (94,471) (99,412) (112,749 (104,711) (100,861)
Administrative expenses THER (74,940) (61,009) (61,609) (53,070) (55,777)
Other expenses HEMER (52,745) (56,529) (53,521) (32,522) (41,369)
Finance costs Wi%E A (1,524) (2,804) (3,600) (3,825) (2,159)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREBL AR 377,189 258,893 188,966 144,641 179,187
Income tax expense FriS i (74,991) (53,748) (35,867) (30,135) (32,880)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR R SR 302,198 205,145 153,099 114,506 146,307
Attributable to: AT & IBFE(L

Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ S DN 302,198 205,145 153,099 114,506 146,307

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE

TOTAL ASSETS HEE 1,803,736 1,693,400 1,721,148 1,569,643 1,393,816
TOTAL LIABILITIES e & (329,860) (445,120) (629,411) (587,531) (474,938)
NET ASSETS BEE 1,473,876 1,248,280 1,091,737 982,112 918,878
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The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
following periods:

U

from Wednesday, 18 May 2016 to Friday, 20 May 2016, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the 2016 AGM. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the 2016 AGM, all transfer of shares of the
Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the
appropriate share transfer forms must be lodged for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 17 May 2016 with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Abacus Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong.

from Thursday, 26 May 2016 to Friday, 27 May 2016, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitiements to
the proposed final dividend, all transfer of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the appropriate
share transfer forms must be lodged for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 25 May 2016 with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Abacus Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, no
transfers of shares will be registered.

The 2016 AGM will be held on Friday, 20 May 2016. Details of the 2016
AGM are set out in the notice of AGM with constitutes part of the circular

to Shareholders sent together with this annual report.

ERRFER TSR EEHEROHBFELTE

(i)

H-E—AFRATNB(EB=)E_T— R F
FAZTHESHR) (BEEEMX)  BiEHER
MBPERFE UEBETERLE-Z— X FRE
BERXEUNE LREZBRREH - BERFEE
BEE—_T—"FRFRAFAETRE LKRE
R TEARARMBRhEREREGEARERKRE
@ AR _ZT—X"ERAT+EHEH )T
FUR=1+281 » REARGB ZBERHBFERL
DEEERAHER AR IIZBEELFE it
BARBERAXBER183FAMA L2212 -

H-_ZE—AFREA-+~B(EHNE-_ZT—X
FRAZ+ER(EHR)(BEEREMK) ' B
EBRMBFELTE  WETETARZRERIR
BRIBRRED - AREARZEREGERRE RS
2R FTEARR RN EREREERZERR
ZEREE R T AFRA-_+HB(EHD)
THEE=+281  RERRAR 2 EBRGBBEE
HOREERADERARIHEREERLTFE - it
IHEEBZ2RNEBER183FRA A L2218 -

R ERSER () R ()WERBEAR - ST HRRGBS
BRFE-

— A FREAFARER B AFAA=TH (2
)BT - T AERRBEARBE HRHFLHR

—%

TR IR R A A

CRBRERAER T RERE
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2015 AGM
Announcement of 2015 interim results
Announcement of 2015 annual results
2016 AGM

2015 Interim dividend

Payment date for 2015 interim dividend
Proposed 2015 final dividend

Ex-dividend date for 2015 final dividend
Book closing dates for 2015 final dividend

Payment date for proposed 2015
final dividend

132

22 May 2015
18 August 2015
17 March 2016
20 May 2016

HK$0.03 per share
23 September 2015

HK$0.12 per share
24 May 2016
26 May 2016-27 May 2016

on or about 7 June 2016

—E-RFERRBFRE
N —E-RFRHER
N —E-hFEFER
B RFRRBFRE

—E-AFhHKRE
“E-hFHHRE
ANESE:

EERE_T—RF
REARR R

T -RFEREKRER

—=—nERHRE
CHE

RHER 2 -F—AF
REBIR RN B 28

—E-—RAFRA=-+=H
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Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

BB E 7 EFFHE3385R 118 H/0:30483001-02F

22 Tianling Road, Wuzhong Economic Development District, Suzhou, Jiangsu, PRC.
AR T &k & BR N T R P AR B 2 B R BB BR 22855

www.dawnrays.com
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